
 

 

 

 
SCHOOL DISTRICT NO. 47 (POWELL RIVER) BOARD OF EDUCATION  

Regular Board Meeting 
4:00 pm, Wednesday, October 14, 2020 

SCHOOL BOARD OFFICE 
 

A G E N D A 
 

 
QUESTION PERIOD 
 
CHAIRPERSON’S REMARKS 
 
1. APPROVAL OF AGENDA 
 
2. ADOPTION OF MINUTES 

2.a) Approval of Regular Meeting Minutes dated September 9, 2020. 
 

3. CORRESPONDENCE (Incoming)  
3.a)  N/A 

 
CORRESPONDENCE (Outgoing) 
3.b)  N/A 

 
4. SUPERINTENDENT OF SCHOOLS’ REPORT 

4.a) 2019/2020 Framework for Enhancing Student Learning - Annual Report 
4.b) OLC on the Road 
4.c) Ministry of Education Mental Health in Schools Strategy 
4.d) Community Use of Facilities: City of Powell River request to use Oceanview Gymnasium 
4.e) Volunteers in Schools (oral) 
4.f) Enrollment Report 
4.g) Suspension, Exclusion and Seclusion Report YTD September 8, 2020 to September 30, 2020 
4.h)   Board Approved Course Request – Psychology 11 

 
5. SECRETARY-TREASURER’S REPORT 

5.a) 2019/2020 Financial Statement Discussion & Analysis  
5.b) 2019/2020 Annual Audited Financial Statements 
5.c) Month End Financial Report as at September 30, 2020 
 

6. COMMITTEE REPORTS   
6.a)  Committee Recommendations: 
  

Operations Committee - 2019/2020 Audited Financial Statements 
“THAT the 2019/2020 Annual Audited Financial Statements be adopted as presented.” 
 
Education Committee - Early Learning  
“THAT the School Board submit an application to the Childcare BC New Spaces Fund for financial support 
to create new childcare spaces at a number of elementary school sites.” 

 
7. OTHER BUSINESS 

7.a)  N/A 
  

 QUESTION PERIOD 
 MEDIA QUESTION PERIOD 
 ADJOURNMENT 



 

 

Minutes of Regular Meeting September 9, 2020 
 

 
 
 

SCHOOL DISTRICT NO. 47 (POWELL RIVER) 
BOARD OF EDUCATION - REGULAR MEETING 

4:00 PM., Wednesday, September 9, 2020  
SCHOOL BOARD OFFICE 

 
 

                             MINUTES 
 
 
 
 
Present: Aaron Reid (Chair), Russell Brewer. Dale Lawson, Doug Skinner,  

Jackie Timothy (by phone) 
 
Regrets:         Dale Lawson 
 
Also in attendance: Jay Yule (Superintendent), Steve Hopkins,  
   
 
 
 
 
Question Period 
CUPE asked about Board Plans related to recycling and composting in the context of Covid-19 and the 
student presentation that was made in June. 
 
S. Hopkins reported briefly on staff plans with respect to a proposed recycling plan for Brooks as well 
touched on related aspects of the District Health Plan. 
 
 
CHAIRPERSON’S REMARKS  
“Normally, I open our meetings acknowledging the traditional territory on which we are meeting.  
Today, I not only acknowledge that we are meeting on the traditional territory of, but also pass along 
our thoughts and best wishes to, our friends and neighbours of the Tla’amin Nation who are currently 
sheltering in place due to cases of Covid-19 in their community.  
   
September is usually a time of great happiness and excitement as students, staff, families, and the 
community in general look forward to the return to school and the routine of fall.  
 
As seems to be the case with everything in the year 2020, this September is much different.  There are 
many different emotions and feelings in the air this week as our District staff gears up to welcome 
students back into schools tomorrow – many of them for the first time since mid-March.  Anxiety, fear, 
and uncertainty are the top issues and it is completely understandable.  
  
The addition of the recent outbreak within the Powell River area has ramped up those fears.  
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This pandemic has been, and continues to be, a challenge.  However, I am proud of the work that has 
been done by our District leadership team in collaboration with our two union presidents, staff and 
community members to put a robust plan in place to welcome back our students to their schools in the 
safest way we can.  It has been a long haul since the state of emergency was first declared until now and 
I know that this school district is up to the challenge to tackle whatever may come our way until it’s 
over.  
 
We are counting on our community to also do their part, as the people of Tla’amin are currently doing, 
to slow the spread of this virus so that our kids can stay in school and get back into routines that we all 
know they really need.  Keep washing your hands, stay home when you are sick, cough into your elbow, 
maintain physical distance from others and wear a mask when you aren’t able to do so.  As long as we 
work together, our community, our schools and our children will be as safe as possible.”  
 
 
 
1. APPROVAL OF AGENDA 
 

Moved: D. Skinner 
Seconded:  R. Brewer 
 
 THAT the Agenda be approved as presented. 

 
Status:   Carried 
 

 
2. ADOPTION OF MINUTES  
 

Moved: R. Brewer 
Seconded:  D. Skinner 
 
THAT the Regular Minutes of June 10, 2020 be approved as presented. 

 
  Status:   Carried 
 
 
3. CORRESPONDENCE  

 
INCOMING 

 3.a)   ITA Award 
  For information. 

 
 
OUTGOING 
3.b)   Letter of Support Brooks Secondary School Neighbourhood Traffic Calming Charrette 

Grant Application  
 For information. 

 
 
3.c) Tribal Journey 2021 Paddle to Tla’amin 
 For information. 
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Moved: R. Brewer 
Seconded:  D. Skinner 
 

 THAT the correspondence be received and filed. 
 

Status:   Carried 
 

 
4. SUPERINTENDENT OF SCHOOLS’ REPORT 

 
4.a) School Restart Plan 

J. Yule spoke briefly to the back to school plans in place for September thanking senior 
staff and union leadership for all their work over the summer to ensure a safe return to 
school. 
 
J. Yule spoke to the various remote learning options available for parents and students, 
prospective enrolment, transportation services, and other supports in place. 

 
 
4.b) Dual Credit & Trades Training Programming (oral) 

J. Yule spoke to changes for students enrolling in dual credit trades programs, 
specifically to a policy clarification from government regarding funding eligibility for 
students in their 13th year. Students had previously been funded in their 13th year but 
won’t be moving forward as it wasn’t the intent of the policy.  
 
J. Yule also spoke to a Board supported recommendation to honor the commitments 
made to those students expected to start in September and to not charge them any 
course fees. 

 
 
4.c) Power to Suspend for 2020-2021 
  For information. 
 

 
4.d) Maintenance of Order for 2020-2021 
  For information. 
 

 
4.e)  Prod Schedule 2020-2021 
  For information. 
 
 
4.f) qathet Regional Housing Needs Assessment Summary FINAL_QR code 

For information. 
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Moved: D. Skinner 
Seconded:  R. Brewer 
 
THAT the Superintendent of Schools’ Report be received as presented. 
 
Status:   Carried 

 
 

5. SECRETARY-TREASURER’S REPORT 
 

5.a) Federal Funding Announcement and Funding Table 
S. Hopkins spoke to the recently announced federal funding opportunity for school 
districts across the country reporting that it was expected to be roughly $900,000 for 
Powell River and that the funds would be used in support of a safe return to in-class 
instruction.  

 
 
5.b) Auditor General, re:  Appointment of Auditors 

S. Hopkins spoke to a letter from the Auditor General’s office informing the district that it 
was withdrawing plans to be involved in the School District audit for the years 2020 to 
2023.  

 
 

Moved: D. Skinner 
Seconded:  R. Brewer 

 
THAT the Secretary-Treasurer’s Report be received as presented. 

 
Status:   Carried 

 
 

6. COMMITTEE REPORTS 
 
Policy Committee 

 6.a)     Draft Board Annual Work Plan 
S. Hopkins spoke to the draft annual work plan for the Board. It was recommended that 
the plan be included on the Committee of the Whole agenda each month acting as a 
reminder of items and events in the coming months.  

  
 

7. OTHER BUSINESS 
 7.a)   2020/2021 Board Meeting Calendar 

 S. Hopkins briefly to the annual meeting calendar with specific reference to a conflict in 
November arising from the statutory holiday. It was decided that the regular meeting in 
November would be held on Tuesday November 10, 2020. 

 
 It was also decided that Aaron would act as chair for the September Committee of the 

Whole meeting and that the balance of the rotation would be determined at the meeting 
scheduled for the September 23, 2020.  
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7.b) Board Meeting Agenda Format – (deferred) 

 
 

 7.c) South Coast Branch Professional Development Opportunities (deferred) 
 
 
 

QUESTION PERIOD  
P. Galinski asked how many students were affected by the funding change for Trades. 
 
S. Hopkins said that he would email P. Galinski with the information once it was confirmed.  
 
 
MEDIA QUESTION PERIOD  
N/A 
 
 
ADJOURNMENT  
 

Moved: D. Skinner 
 

THAT the Regular Board Meeting be adjourned at 4:45 p.m. 
 

Status:   Carried  
        

 
 
A. Reid S. Hopkins  
Chairperson Secretary-Treasurer                      
 
SH/ac 
 
 



Our vision is to enable all learners to develop their individual potential and to acquire the knowledge, skills, and attitudes
needed to contribute to a healthy, democratic, and pluralistic society.  

FRAMEWORK FOR
ENHANCING STUDENT
LEARNING REPORT

1

VISION

LEARNER SUCCESS

SCHOOL DISTRICT No. 47
Powell River, BC

September 30, 2020

MISSION
Our mission is to prepare students, within a safe, inclusive, and dynamic environment to face a changing world as
lifelong learners and informed, responsible citizens.

ORGANIZING THEMES
The District has chosen three key themes as our focus for 2019-2023:

ENGAGEMENT &
CONNECTIONS

ORGANIZATIONAL
SUSTAINABILITY

CONTINUOUS IMPROVEMENT

The District's Strategic Plan acknowledges provincial goals and priorities for district and school improvement initiatives
and aligns with the Ministry of Education's focus to continuously improve educational outcomes for all students, with a
specific focus on improving equity for Indigenous students, children in care, and students with diverse abilities or
disabilities. Through our Strategic Plan and the Ministry of Education's Policy for Student Success the aim is to ensure
everyone working in School District No. 47 is working toward the same goal: student success. 

Students will meet or exceed literacy expectations for each grade level.
Students will meet or exceed numeracy expectations for each grade level.
Students will feel welcome, safe, and connected to their school.
Students will graduate.

BC's mandate is to enable learners to develop their individual
potential and to acquire the knowledge, skills, and attitudes needed
to contribute to a healthy society and a prosperous and sustainable
economy.

To achieve this purpose,  we have formulated local goals and
performance measures that also align with the provincial  goals of
developing educated citizens in the following areas:

Intellectual Development
Human and Social Development 
Career Development 

EDUCATED CITIZEN

EDUCATIONAL OUTCOMES Continuous Improvement Principles

https://www2.gov.bc.ca/gov/content/education-training/k-12/administration/program-management/vision-for-student-success


What data did we use to monitor the impact of our actions?

What data did we use to monitor the impact of our actions?

LEARNER SUCCESS: 
 GOAL

2

Improve achievement results for ALL students

1

KINDERGARTEN PRE-SCREEN, FALL 2019

OBJECTIVE: INCREASE THE READINESS OF STUDENTS ENTERING
KINDERGARTEN

Number and percentage of students entering Kindergarten who were determined to be level 1, 2 or 3 

We used data from the Kindergarten pre-screen to determine the areas of need for our students entering kindergarten.
Students were assessed in the areas of personal/social, fine motor, communication, problem solving, gross motor, and
attending skills. The assessments determined who needed additional supports by priority Level 1. Level 2 and 3 scores
indicated that the students needed to be monitored. Unfortunately, with the onset of COVID-19, we were unable to
assess the improvements of these students to measure the impact of the additional support.  We were also unable to
pre-screen our incoming Kindergarten students in the spring for this year due to COVID-19. The pre-screen
assessments will be completed in September 2020.

Strong Start/Orca Bus
This program operated successfully until March of 2020.  At that time, Strong Start began operating virtually. 
 Strong Start will continue virtually in the fall due to COVID-19 until the risks of the program can be reduced.

Spring Enhanced Kindergarten Orientation Program
This program was unable to operate this spring due to COVID-19.

Continue to hold pre-K transition meetings for vulnerable students
Meetings were held both in person and via Zoom.

Changing Results for Young Children Project
Blended delivery of the project over the course of the year

ACTION/INITIATIVES

Although many of our plans for the spring were delayed due to COVID-19, we hope to continue with many of our
planned initiatives for 2020/2021.
We proceeded with Kindergarten screening for incoming students in September. The intervention team looked at
the screening results to determine if some of the students need additional support ,but most schools chose to re-
visit in January once the routines of the classroom are implemented.  In January, we will begin with some literacy
assessments to determine if there is a need for some extra practice with alphabet and phonological awareness
skills.
We will administer the Kindergarten pre-screening for next year's incoming Kindergarten students this spring.
Enhanced Kindergarten Orientation based on spring data. 
We will also continue to hold pre K transition meetings for vulnerable students.
We have a team who will be  participating in Changing Results for Young Children Project.
One of the most impactful Kindergarten initiatives from 2019/2010 was the ongoing meetings between teachers,
the Early Learning Coordinator, and District Leadership.  We are planning to schedule meetings in the current year
as well to plan and share collaboratively.

ANALYSIS
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LEARNER SUCCESS: 
 GOAL
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Improve achievement results for ALL students

1

FOUNDATION SKILLS ASSESSMENT

OBJECTIVE: INCREASE STUDENT LITERACY

Number and percentage of students in grades 4  who are on track or extending literacy expectations as specified in
provincial assessments.

We used data from the Foundation Skills Assessment  (FSA) administered in grade 4 and 7, as well as the data from the
Grade 10 Literacy Assessment to measure progress and inform our next steps. The elementary District Literacy
Assessments were intended to be administered in the spring, but due to COVID-19, this assessment was postponed
until the 2020/2021 school year.



What data did we use to monitor the impact of our actions?Number and percentage of students in grade 7 who are on track or extending literacy expectations as specified in
provincial assessments.

LEARNER SUCCESS:
GOAL

4

Improve achievement results for ALL students

1

LITERACY ASSESSMENT 10
Number and percentage of students in grade 10 who are on track or extending literacy expectations as specified in
provincial assessments.



What data did we use to monitor the impact of our actions?

LEARNER SUCCESS:
GOAL

5

Improve achievement results for ALL students

1

ANALYSIS
Although many of our district assessments were interrupted due to COVID-19  we were able to initiate the
elementary district assessments quickly in September to determine where to allocate resources for 2020/2021.
A literacy initiative at the high school level will be implemented in 2020/2021 to improve data collection and 
 encourage collaboration in the interpretation and uses of data as a way to improve instruction and student
achievement.
After much collaboration with elementary principals and teachers, the intervention teachers are now a district team
who participate in shared learning, shared assessments, and planning collaboratively in how to provide students
instruction in skills they need to be successful in literacy.
The Elementary District Intervention Team administered  literacy assessments to all students in grades 1-7. They
also asked classroom teachers to collect a writing sample from each child and share the top 2, middle 2, and
bottom 2 samples with the team. 
Elementary literacy assessments will be administered three times per year to evaluate the progress of all students
and identify areas of need and growth. Consistency in assessments and scoring will continue to be emphasized.
One of our intervention teachers will also be supporting teachers in writing instruction and will collaborate, team
teach, and share ideas with interested teachers across the district. Writing samples from those classrooms will be
analyzed for improvement.
There will be several opportunities for professional learning in the area of reading and writing offered this year.
The Elementary District Intervention Team will meet twice per month to share results, best practice, and ideas.
Elementary school teams will meet three times per year with the Director of Instruction to analyze the results of
their students' assessments and writing samples and plan for interventions for those who need it.

ACTION/INITIATIVES
Identify all students in K who are not meeting literacy expectations

Students were identified prior to attending kindergarten in 2019.
Provide literacy intervention support for identified K students (Ladybugs)

Due to a shortage of EA's, we were unable to offer the Ladybugs program.  Instead, the early learning teacher
went to the most vulnerable kindergarten classes to provide direct support.

Identify all students in Grades 1-7 who are not meeting literacy expectations for each grade level
Students were identified and literacy intervention supports were put into place at each school.

Identify and provide literacy intervention support for identified Grades 8-12 students
Students were identified through teacher referral and School Based Team and academic intervention through
differentiation, Learning Assistance, tutoring, and other resources were provided.

Create structures to facilitate regular monitoring and refining of improvement processes 
The K-7 District Assessment Review Committee met and decided on common assessments for writing and
reading. Intervention teachers were to be trained in the spring and then go in and administer the assessments in
collaboration with classroom teachers. This was put on hold due to COVID-19, but the training and assessments
will begin in September 2020.

Integrate Indigenous worldviews and perspectives into learning environments
All teachers as part of the new curriculum are using the First Peoples Principles of Learning and incorporating
Indigenous worldviews  and perspectives into all learning areas.
The Indigenous Education Department continues to create opportunities and resources to embed Indigenous
worldviews in all areas of the curriculum. 

Provide professional learning opportunities connected to literacy improvement efforts
Hosted a Ministry of Education Graduation Literacy Assessment credentialing session for 17 SD47 educators.
Provided release time for analysis of common literacy assessments in Grades 8 and 9. 
Several other opportunities were held this year including training for intervention teachers and writing
workshops. 



What data did we use to monitor the impact of our actions?

What data did we use to monitor the impact of our actions?

LEARNER SUCCESS:
GOAL

6

Improve achievement results for ALL students

1

We used data from the Foundation Skills Assessment  (FSA) administered in grade 4 and 7, as well as the data from the
Provincial Numeracy Assessment administered in grade 10 to measure numeracy progress and inform our next steps.  

FOUNDATION SKILLS ASSESSMENT
Number and percentage of students in grades 4 and 7 who are on track or extending numeracy expectations as
specified in provincial assessments.

OBJECTIVE: INCREASE STUDENT NUMERACY



What data did we use to monitor the impact of our actions?
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Identify all students who are not meeting numeracy expectations for each grade level
Students in Grades 1-7 were identified at the beginning, middle, and end of 2019/2020 on an informal basis -
using their professional judgement, teachers identified their students who were vulnerable in numeracy.  
Provided numeracy intervention support for targeted populations.

Identify and provide numeracy intervention support for identified Grades 8-12 students
Students were identified through teacher referral and School Based Team and academic intervention through
differentiation, Learning Assistance, tutoring, and other resources were provided.

Integrate Indigenous worldviews and perspectives into learning environments
All teachers as part of the new curriculum are using the First Peoples Principles of Learning and incorporating
Indigenous worldviews and perspectives into all learning areas.
The Indigenous Education Department continues to create opportunities and resources to embed Indigenous
worldviews in all areas of the curriculum.
During remote learning, the Indigenous Education Department supported teachers through grade group
meetings and curriculum development.

Continuously monitor progress of interventions to inform instruction and determine next steps
Some schools piloted the use of the Island Numeracy Assessment, an assessment developed specifically to
inform instruction in numeracy.

Create structures to facilitate regular monitoring and refining of improvement processes
Created the Elementary District Assessment Review Committee

Find a common elementary assessment for numeracy that can be consistently used and scored.
We were unable to select and administer a numeracy assessment last year due to COVID-19. This year we will be
focused on finding a district assessment that teachers can use to identify areas of need, and the district can use to
measure growth.  Although improving numeracy continues to be a goal, the primary emphasis this year will be on
literacy. Our plans for numeracy for this year are:

Bring together the Elementary District Assessment Committee and select a district numeracy assessment
Pilot numeracy assessments at selected elementary schools.
Created an elementary math intervention teacher  position to work with teachers in the afternoons who wish to
implement more current practices in mathematics.

Participate in a virtual professional learning mathematics workshop provided by Stanford University with a group of
teachers and  administrators.
A numeracy initiative at the high school level will be implemented in 2020/2021 to improve data collection and 
 encourage collaboration in the interpretation and uses of data as a way to improve instruction and student
achievement.

LEARNER SUCCESS:
GOAL

Improve achievement results for ALL students

1

Number and percentage of students in grade 10 who are on track or extending numeracy expectations as specified in
provincial assessments.

ACTION/INITIATIVES

ANALYSIS

NUMERACY ASSESSMENT 10
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Improve achievement results for ALL students

1

Number and percentage of students who are completing grade to grade transitions on time.

OBJECTIVE:  INCREASE SECONDARY GRADUATION AND
TRANSITION RATES

Number and percentage of resident students who achieved a BC Certificate of Graduation Dogwood Diploma within
five years and six years of starting Grade 8.

GRADUATION RATES

What data did we use to monitor the impact of our actions?

ANALYSIS

ACTION/INITIATIVES
Identify all students who are not on track for course completion, grade to grade transitions, and graduation.
Provide tiered support to students identified.
Continuously monitor progress of interventions to inform instruction and determine next steps.

We used the 5-year and the 6-year graduation rates and grade to grade transitions data to monitor the impact of our
actions.

TRANSITION RATES

The percentage of students completing grade to grade transitions on time have been high due to course
completion interventions. We will continue to offer course completion options beyond summer school.
Grade to grade transitions drop off in Grade 11 and paired with the 5-year Graduation Rate we have reallocated
resources to provide direct support to both Indigenous students and Grade 12s who are at-risk for not graduating or
who did not graduate one time.



What data did we use to monitor the impact of our actions?
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Improve achievement results for ALL students
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OBJECTIVE:  IMPROVE THE READINESS OF STUDENTS FOR LIFE
AFTER HIGH SCHOOL

Number and percentage of resident students transitioning to a post secondary institution within 1 or 3 years.
TRANSITION TO POST-SECONDARY INSTITUTIONS

What data did we use to monitor the impact of our actions?
We used the number and percentage of students transitioning to post-secondary institutions within one to  three years
and information from the Student Learning Survey to measure our impact for this objective.

STUDENT LEARNING SURVEY
Number and percentage of Grade 10 and 12 students satisfied that school is preparing them for a job in the future and
for post-secondary education.



What data did we use to monitor the impact of our actions?
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Improve achievement results for ALL students

1

ANALYSIS

ACTION/INITIATIVES

Students struggled to complete the components of Career Life Connections and feedback was that students
wanted more career and education support throughout the graduation program. 

Included CLC at a face to face course in the Grade 12 schedule.
Assigned the school counsellors to grade cohorts (Grade 8-10) (Grade 11-12)

Provide appropriate career curriculum and opportunities (for example Dual Credit, CLC, etc.) for K-12 students.
Introduced Capstone and Career Life Connections to the Graduation Program.
Continued to offer Dual Credit, Secondary School Apprenticeships, Work Experience, Board Authorized
Approved courses, and Career Education to Graduation Program students.

Provide professional learning opportunities connected to career education.



Number and percentage of students in grades 4, 7, 10 and 12 who feel welcome, safe, and have a sense of belonging in
their school.

LEARNER SUCCESS
GOAL:

11

Support mental health needs and well-being of students and employees

2

What data did we use to monitor the impact of our actions?
We used data from the Student Learning Survey  to measure this outcome and inform our next steps. In addition,  we
used data from a local survey conducted for SD47's NOIIE Transition project. For this local survey, Indigenous students
at Brooks Secondary School were asked a series of questions about their learning and learning environment.
Staff who participated in the Wellness 47 Group were surveyed about their participation.  UBC HELP MDI data was
used, as well.

OBJECTIVE:  INCREASE MENTAL HEALTH LITERACY FOR STUDENTS,
PARENTS, AND STAFF

PROVINCIAL DATA

Adult Relationship Asset data from MDI
UBC HELP 2019/2020
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Support mental health needs and well-being of students and employees

ACTION/INITIATIVES
Increased counselling services in the district
Continue to employ a Family Liaison Worker 
Improve EFAP Program by initiating a new service provider

Homewood Health was contracted for the district
Create a district Professional Learning Group; Wellness 47

This group met 6 times throughout the year to explore analytical frameworks to improve communication skills
Rebrand the JMC/PD Advisory Committee to include wellness initiatives

The Wellness Committee was not re-branded but did establish bylaws and a plan moving forward
EASE - Everyday Anxiety Strategies for Educators

Provided training for one educator from each elementary school 
Kits were purchased for each school with the resources to support the lessons

Comments from staff who participated in the Wellness 47 Groups:

Number of secondary Indigenous students who feel welcome, valued, and supported in their school.

LOCAL DATA

These meeting have provided me with ideas and suggestions towards creating better communication with peers and
students.

I’m able to use validating, empathizing, acknowledging feelings, making space for a quiet person, drawing people out,
and paraphrasing comfortably.  I appreciate skilled facilitators more.  In my one-on-one interactions with students (the
majority of my position) I have become more skilled, and definitely more aware, of the strategies I can use to draw them
out, to help them express what they know, and move towards more in-depth understanding.

I have used my experience of creating norms in my classroom at the beginning of the semester and when establishing
a new working group at my school.

Next year I will continue to be intentional, when I am working with parents I can practice withholding judgement (and
with peers) and with students. Relationship, I believe, is the most important thing when working with my parents and
students. Through my communication with them (texts, emails, phone calls, conversations). I want them to see that I
value them and in that they will trust me and be able to work with me. I hope that through modelling that I do, my peers
will notice and we can have more discussions.

How has participation in the Learning Group impacted my thinking on communications/professional relations with peers
and/or students?

What changes in my individual practice have occurred? 

How have I used any of the approaches from the Learning Group in my role or in my school?     

How might I use some of the approaches in the next school year?
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Support mental health needs and well-being of students and employees

ANALYSIS

With the onset of COVID-19, the mental health literacy objective became even more urgent.   We 
Educational Assistants completed the UBC Mental Health Literacy online course and we
would like to see more staff complete the training.  
EASE training is now available online and we would like to encourage more staff to
complete the training. 
We are pleased with the outcomes of the Wellness 47 Learning Series and will explore ways
to continue to support the participants in the in the coming year. 
A mental health resource page was created on our website and will be updated as new
resources and supports become available. 
There has been ongoing collaboration between community agencies and SD #47 to provide
wrap around support for our youth. 
Participation in the Youth Mental Health and Substance Use Project  will continue to
improve services and supports for our students. 
The monthly WOB (worrisome on line behavior) reports will continue to be used to check in
and support students who are identified.



Roots of Empathy (two schools)
Roots of Empathy was offered at 2 schools until COVID when it was offered remotely

Mind Up/Zones of Regulation, etc.
These resources continue to be used in most schools

SOGI
We had a very active SOGI committee with representatives from almost every school.

Changing Results for Young Children
There were 9 participants from SD 47 and the community who met regularly over the course of the year

ERASE 
VTRA training for all admin, counselors and some student support teachers as well as some community
agencies
Participation of some staff in Safer Schools Trauma Informed Return to School webinar

OBJECTIVE: IMPROVE OUR CULTURE OF ACCEPTANCE, TOLERANCE,
MINDFULNESS AND RESPECT

Even with the challenges of this past year, all of the actions under this objective have been achieved. 
 Changing Results for Young Children was quite successful and will continue for the 2020/2021 school year.
The district will be working on implementing the new Racism Curriculum put out by the Ministry. The SOGI
committee had a number of initiatives this past year and will continue in 2020/2021. There will be ongoing
promotion of the resources available on the Erase website. After completing the VTRA training, we will
continue to transition from Violence Incident Protocol to the use of a VTRA model. The ERASE Report It Tool
was continues to be used for immediate response and action for all incidents reported.

LEARNER SUCCESS:
GOAL
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Support mental health needs and well-being of students and employees

ACTION/INITIATIVES

ANALYSIS

What data did we use to monitor the impact of our actions?
MDI data from HELP UBC for the 2019/2020 school year on school climate and belonging and data from the Student
Learning Survey.



Provide professional learning opportunities connected to giving student voice and choice in their learning and
assessment methods

3 professional learning groups to improve writing were held that looked at engaging students in writing .
Provide professional learning opportunities connected to differentiated environments and instruction
Student Committees

A district student council committee met twice.  Additional meetings could not go ahead due to COVID.
Develop a framework for students to contribute feedback to the board through student councils

This was something that was intended for the district student council but we were unable to formulate that
plan in the spring due to COVID.

Develop a student forum/leadership group to meet with leadership students 2 times/year to facilitate leadership
skills and gather feedback

This group met twice last year until COVID

LEARNER SUCCESS:
GOAL
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Support mental health needs and well-being of students and employees

ACTION/INITIATIVES

ANALYSIS

OBJECTIVE: PROMOTE STUDENT ENGAGEMENT IN THEIR LEARNING AND
THEIR COMMUNITY
What data did we use to monitor the impact of our actions?

There were several professional learning opportunities this past year to allow students to have more
engagement, voice and choice in their learning and assessment methods. These learning opportunities will
continue to be offered in 2020/2021. We were able to provide the opportunity for student forum/leadership
this past year until COVID so we will be planning how to continue those opportunities in a COVID
environment.

In addition, we will continue to look for opportunities to allow for student representation at various district
committees (ie. Health Committee).  We would like to hear from the Board other suggestions for how to
engage with our student community.

We used data from the Student Learning Survey  to measure this outcome and inform our next steps.
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2
Support mental health needs and well-being of students and employees

ACTION/INITIATIVES
Provide professional learning opportunities connected to social media inside and outside of the classroom

Held professional development workshops for interested staff on professional development days.
Create a SD47 Social Media Policy

Created a draft SD47 Social Media Policy .
Provide appropriate curriculum to students related to digital literacy.

OBJECTIVE: PROMOTE THE APPROPRIATE AND ETHICAL USE OF SOCIAL
MEDIA

ANALYSIS
Teachers and staff have requested more professional learning opportunities connected to digital citizenship and
digital literacy, in general. We will focus our efforts on increasing knowledge and skills in digital citizenship and
introduce the BC Digital Literacy Framework as a way to support staff and students with digital literacy.
Share the draft version of the SD47 Social Media Policy with stakeholders for review and then submit to the Board
for feedback.
Explore curriculum for teachers to use with students related to digital literacy across all learning areas.
We need to determine ways to measure student and staff ethical use of social media.
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ANALYSIS

1

Early Learning Planning Table
Community Literacy Table
Food Access Network

What data did we use to monitor the impact of our actions?

District representation on a number of committees including:

Improve communication and engagement strategies to adapt to the varying needs of our
community

ACTION/INITIATIVES
Increased web presence
Develop a framework for students, parents, and teachers to contribute feedback to the Board through student
councils, staff meetings and DPAC meetings

OBJECTIVE: IMPLEMENT STRATEGIES THAT MEET THE PREFERRED
COMMUNICATION AND ENGAGEMENT NEEDS OF OUR STUDENTS AND
STAKEHOLDERS

A consultant has been hired to create an SD47 Strategic Communication Plan.  This will help in aligning the
messaging from SD47 social media accounts and create an increased web presence.

Staff meeting minutes, DPAC info, and school highlights are all used to share information with the Board.  We are
looking for feedback as to what additional ideas the Board might have.
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1

What data did we use to monitor the impact of our actions?

Improve communication and engagement strategies to adapt to the varying needs of our
community

ACTION/INITIATIVES
Professional Book Club
Wellness 47 Project

OBJECTIVE: PROMOTE EMPLOYEE ENGAGEMENT IN THEIR SCHOOL AND
ORGANIZATIONAL CULTURE

For both the Professional Book Club and Wellness 47, we surveyed the participants involved.

These meeting have provided me with ideas and suggestions towards creating better communication with peers and students.

I’m able to use validating, empathizing, acknowledging feelings, making space for a quiet person, drawing people out, and
paraphrasing comfortably.  I appreciate skilled facilitators more.  In my one-on-one interactions with students (the majority of my
position) I have become more skilled, and definitely more aware, of the strategies I can use to draw them out, to help them express
what they know, and move towards more in-depth understanding.

I have used my experience of creating norms in my classroom at the beginning of the semester and when establishing a new
working group at my school.

Next year I will continue to be intentional, when I am working with parents I can practice withholding judgement (and with peers) and
with students. Relationship, I believe, is the most important thing when working with my parents and students. Through my
communication with them (texts, emails, phone calls, conversations). I want them to see that I value them and in that they will trust
me and be able to work with me. I hope that through modelling that I do, my peers will notice and we can have more discussions.

How has participation in the Learning Group impacted my thinking on communications/professional relations with peers
and/or students?

What changes in my individual practice have occurred? 

How have I used any of the approaches from the Learning Group in my role or in my school?     

How might I use some of the approaches in the next school year?

Both the Professional Book Club and the Wellness 47 Project were well received.  We plan to continue both of these
initiatives in the current year.   We are exploring other possibilities to increase engagement.
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What data did we use to monitor the impact of our actions?

The initiatives intended to increase collaboration with other levels of local government were not formally addressed
during the 2019/2020 school year.

Improve communication and engagement strategies to adapt to the varying needs of our
community

ACTION/INITIATIVES
Participation on Social Advisory Committee
Invite our partners to join our social media feeds and provide them with all official correspondence
Provide incentives and professional development regarding volunteerism
Explore opportunities for increased collaboration

OBJECTIVE: INCREASE COLLABORATION WITH TLA'AMIN NATION, THE
QATHET REGIONAL DISTRICT AND THE CITY OF POWELL RIVER

The School District has engaged with a Communications consultant; it's expected that the various engagement
strategies will be re-thought after that work has been completed.



ORGANIZATIONAL
SUSTAINABILITY:
GOAL

20

ANALYSIS

1
Improve organizational effectiveness

ACTION/INITIATIVES
Continue to build on the work done to date with a focus on annual reporting

OBJECTIVE: ESTABLISH A FRAMEWORK FOR STRATEGIC PLANNING AND
CONTINUOUS REPORTING

An administrative procedure that outlines a strategic planning and reporting cycle was developed, this procedure is
in draft form but will soon be ready for adoption.

We have adopted Cascade as a new planning and reporting tool for our school and district goals.  District staff and
administrators were given initial training last year which will continue into the current year.  This tool should allow
for regular reports to be generated on school and district goals.

We are interested in finding out from the Board what information they would like to be able to see and how often
they want to re-visit the plan.
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ANALYSIS

1

We used the number of international students enrolled in September as compared to prior years combined with the
amount of revenue generated in one years as compared to the next.

We looked at the number of fee paying users and groups having expressed an interest in the OLC as compared to
prior years combined with the amount of third party revenue generated in one year compared to the next.

We reviewed the amount of surplus space within the district relative to what was being rented or made available to
rent. 

What data did we use to monitor the impact of our actions?

Improve organizational effectiveness

ACTION/INITIATIVES
Continue to promote the School District as a destination for International Students
Continue to promote the use of the Outdoor Learning Centre (OLC) to fee paying groups
Rent or lease space surplus to the operational needs of the district

OBJECTIVE: INCREASE SCHOOL DISTRICT GENERATED REVENUE

There were 97 fee paying international students registered in September 2019 as compared to 56 in September
2018. $1,046,492 was generated in the 19/20 school year as compared to $936,880 in the prior. 

Gross fee paying revenue at the OLC has averaged around $75,000 per year for the last few years, it was expected
that the number would increase in the summer of 2020 however most contracts from April onward were cancelled
as a result of COVID-19. Plans for now are to move forward with some facility improvements and aim for a re-
opening in the summer of 2021.

We identified what space within the district could be considered surplus, we also confirmed that all surplus space
that was available was already being rented. It was noted that with the growth of DL that we may have to consider
taking some space back.
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What data did we use to monitor the impact of our actions?

We measured the increase in the number of users utilizing the software, the increase in the number of electronic records
making their way through the system via the electronic approval process as well as the reduction in the number of paper
leaves and/or time sheets still flowing through the system making there way to the administration office.

Improve organizational effectiveness

ACTION/INITIATIVES
Extend implementation of electronic leave system to teaching and support staff
Replace support staff time sheets with electronic version
implement use of eDocs; Electronic HR document management solution
Replace current employee mileage and reimbursement forms with electronic platform
Continue to explore other opportunities to improve efficiency as they arise

OBJECTIVE: ENSURE EFFICIENCY OF BUSINESS FUNCTIONS

Continued to promote and facilitate the use of the electronic leave system among teachers and other salaried staff.
Continued to promote and facilitate the use of the electronic leave system among support staff that had already
been provided training.
Explored opportunities between April and June to provide training to the balance of the support staff work force.
Training opportunities provided to Support Staff between April and June also included use of the electronic time
sheet.
Implementation of the eDocs Electronic HR document management solution was continued throughout the year
with approximately 80 percent of all paper records converted to digital. Work will continue into the next year until
complete. 
Electronic mileage and reimbursement forms are to be considered for implementation sometime in 2020/2021
after implementation of eDocs is complete. 
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What data did we use to monitor the impact of our actions?

Metrics to be used to measure the initiatives outlined for this objective are primarily the completion of tasks or projects
that support achieving the overall goal. 

Promote and facilitate sustainable practices within the organization

ACTION/INITIATIVES

Review what others in the sector and other levels of government are doing with respect to energy management

Capitalize on opportunities to reduce energy consumption as they arise

Develop an energy management plan

OBJECTIVE: DEVELOP AND IMPLEMENT A DISTRICT WIDE ENERGY
MANAGEMENT PLAN

Met with a representative of BC Hydro to discuss energy management as well to discuss what programs and
incentives are offered by BC Hydro to the education Sector. 

Consulted with a number of colleagues to discuss what is being done in their districts.

Evaluation of opportunities is expected to be an ongoing strategy. Over the course of the past year the school
district has included in its capital planning, projects intended to reduce energy consumption as well have
implemented a number of smaller projects with reduced energy consumption as the primary driver.

Initially it was expected that the Energy Management Plan would come from working with the BC Hydro
representative but after meeting with them it seems that engaging a consultant would be a better strategy or
perhaps exploring what more can be done with the PUMA Utility management software that is licensed to the
district.
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What data did we use to monitor the impact of our actions?

Metrics to be used to measure the initiatives outlined for this objective are primarily the completion of tasks or projects
that support achieving the overall goal.

Promote and facilitate sustainable practices within the organization

ACTION/INITIATIVES

Review what others in the sector and other levels of government are doing with respect to environmental
sustainability

Identify and capitalize on opportunities to reduce waste

Develop an environmental sustainability plan

OBJECTIVE: DEVELOP AND IMPLEMENT A DISTRICT WIDE
ENVIRONMENTAL SUSTAINABILITY PLAN

Tasked the Operations Manager with meeting representatives of the PR Recreation Complex to review the system
in place at that facility.

Also asked that colleagues be canvassed via email list serve to see how other schools and districts are managing
waste and recyclable materials.

Tasked the Operations Manager with identifying means with which to reduce waste. This is expected to be
ongoing.

Operations Manager working directly with students and administration at Brooks to develop a school based waste
management system that increases the opportunities for recycling thus reducing waste. This plan is expected to be
scale-able for use in other schools and facilities.
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MEMO 
             October 5th, 2020 
To: Lisa Gunn, Jasmin    Marshman, Ian Landy, 

Shannon Behan, Jamie Burt, Rhonda Gordon 
 

From:  Hugh Prichard, OLC Director 

 
Greetings from the OLC at Haywire Bay!  
In light of our current global pandemic, I wanted to reach out to you all, to let you that 
the district has approved the following opportunity for our elementary schools. 
 

Introducing OLC ON THE ROAD! 

What?   One half day (2 hrs 20 minutes) of delivered programming per division at  
  your school! 
Where?  The OLC Road Show team will come to your school and set up outdoors  
  to be there for a few (or several) days in a row, to deliver programming  
  morning and afternoons to all divisions who wish to participate. 
Time Frame October 19 – end of November 
Session Content: Teachers will pick one of 2 pre-designed choices per Primary and 
Intermediate streams to be delivered to their class. We will begin as we always do with 
a safety briefing, then some warm up games, followed by the main event & an 
opportunity for reflection. 
Grade appropriate themes/activities could include:  

• survival skills (shelter, fire, food!), orienteering, art, adaptation, pyramid of life, 
observation & collection, inventory & identification of flora / fauna  

 

Principals: What do we need from you? 
Please communicate this with your teachers to gauge interest. 
Q. Will all your divisions / teachers wish to participate? 
Q. We will avoid scheduling any programs on Oct. 30th and November 11th. Are there 
any other days at your school that you have any programming/events that would 
interfere with scheduling? 
 

SCHOOL # of DIV. Potential # of Days on Site 

Westview 14 7 

James Thomson 12 6 

Edgehill 10 5 

Kelly Creek 7 4* 

Henderson 5 3* 

Texada 2 1* 

*Schools with an ODD number of Divisions can have our team for the remaining half day 
to conduct a full school wide activity.  
Texada may also utilize our team for an additional day as well for a full school activity. 

mailto:hugh@terracentricadventures.com


MENTAL HEALTH IN SCHOOLS 
STRATEGY



2  |  Mental Health in Schools (MHiS) Strategy

3 MESSAGE FROM THE MINISTER

4 VISION

4 INTRODUCTION

5 A NOTE ON ADULT WELL-BEING

6 MENTAL HEALTH IN SCHOOLS (MHIS)

6 THE MINISTRY OF EDUCATION’S POLICY FOR STUDENT SUCCESS

7 ELEMENT 01  |  COMPASSIONATE SYSTEMS LEADERSHIP

8 ELEMENT 02  |  CAPACITY BUILDING

10 ELEMENT 03  |  MENTAL HEALTH IN THE CLASSROOM

12 CONCLUSION

TABLE OF CONTENTS



3  |  Mental Health in Schools (MHiS) Strategy

MESSAGE FROM THE MINISTER 
OF EDUCATION ROB FLEMING

Every student in British Columbia deserves a safe, caring and healthy environment 
that helps them to learn, grow and thrive. We know that students are better prepared 
for success when they have positive, healthy relationships along with appropriate 
supports, resources and tools. We want to create a school environment that supports 
student well-being and positive mental health.

That is why we are committed to the Mental Health in Schools Strategy, a new 
approach that embeds positive mental health in all aspects of the education system, 
including culture, leadership, curriculum and learning environments. The strategy’s 
creation was guided by two provincial strategies: ERASE (Expect Respect and a 
Safe Education) and A Pathway to Hope: A roadmap for making mental health and 
addictions care better for people in British Columbia. 

The Mental Health in Schools (MHiS) Strategy is the result of extensive research 
and a collaborative approach that includes the voices of education and community 
partners across our province. It relies on a decade of social emotional learning and 
aims to weave compassion throughout the school system. 

Beyond positive mental health promotion, this strategy will actively help every student and create opportunities to focus on our 
most vulnerable. Anti-racism, sexual orientation and gender identity (SOGI), substance use, student hunger, and the immigrant 
and refugee student experience — all of these play a part in mental health and wellness and are addressed in this strategy in a 
meaningful way.

For far too long, there was a lack of investment in the mental health of students across BC When we formed government, I made 
addressing those inadequacies a priority. Our education system must lift up all students, and I want to build and strengthen this 
critical role our schools play in the lives of all British Columbians. I want our education partners — teachers, families, school 
districts, independent schools, Indigenous educators, community and researchers — to work closely together, so students know 
they are seen, heard, valued and supported. So students know they aren’t alone, and they have a school community that will 
support them if they are struggling. So students know their school is actively committed to helping them develop resilience to 
supporting their brightest future. 

Strengthening mental health and wellness activities in schools will require a collective effort – now more than ever. The COVID-19 
pandemic has demonstrated that teachers, school staff, families and students are resilient and have capacity to thrive in 
challenging times. We want the Mental Health in Schools Strategy action items to leverage this strength and to continue to create 
opportunities for greater mental well-being throughout our K-12 system. 

The Mental Health in Schools Strategy builds on the work already underway in our schools, and it reaffirms our commitment to 
giving every student the tools to flourish in school, and for the rest of their life. By working together, we can make schools vital 
and compassionate communities of care where students are supported to reach their goals now and well into the future.
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VISION
A whole-school system that promotes positive mental health, where mental health 
promotion is embedded in all aspects of the education system, including culture, 
leadership, curriculum and learning environments. 

INTRODUCTION
We know that giving children the best possible start is key to better long-term 
mental health outcomes. Wellness promotion and prevention needs to be the focus, 
starting in the early years and spanning throughout a child’s life. Previous efforts 
have focussed on services oriented to those in acute crisis who require intervention; 
these services will always be needed. However, the intentional shift towards building 
resiliency early will reduce the pressure on acute care services, decrease costs and 
provide better experiences for children and families. 

The Province of BC is committed to transforming BC’s system of care for mental 
health and addictions through a whole of government approach outlined in  
A Pathway to Hope: A roadmap for making mental health and addictions care 
better for people in British Columbia. The Ministry of Education plays a lead role in 
supporting the mental health of children and youth in schools through mental health 
promotion. 

PREVENTION

INTERVENTION

BC EDUCATION SYSTEM

COMMUNITY AND MINISTRY PARTNERS

MENTAL HEALTH PROMOTION

COMPASSIONATE SYSTEMS LEADERSHIP

Mental well-being, or positive 
mental health, involves the 
capacity to think, feel and 
act in ways that improve our 
ability to enjoy life and deal 
with its challenges. Schools 
play an important role in 
supporting students to build 
the skills and knowledge that 
contribute to their overall 
well-being.

https://www2.gov.bc.ca/assets/gov/british-columbians-our-governments/initiatives-plans-strategies/mental-health-and-addictions-strategy/bcmentalhealthroadmap_2019web-5.pdf
https://www2.gov.bc.ca/assets/gov/british-columbians-our-governments/initiatives-plans-strategies/mental-health-and-addictions-strategy/bcmentalhealthroadmap_2019web-5.pdf


5  |  Mental Health in Schools (MHiS) Strategy

BC utilizes a co-governance model for K-12 education, within which the Ministry 
of Education makes high-level decisions and sets policies for the overall system. 
This model emphasizes the importance of working across the education system 
with other ministries, school districts, independent schools, educational partners, 
Indigenous Rightsholders and partners, educators, parents and students to deliver 
services and supports to students and families.  

There is an emerging consensus in BC that, given the complexity of addressing this 
issue, making substantive progress on mental health in schools will require a system-
wide approach. 

Mental health promotion is a key driver for the Mental Health in Schools Strategy. In 
addition to the benefits for student outcomes and academic achievement, the Mental 
Health Commission of Canada (MHCC) estimates that mental health challenges cost 
the Canadian economy approximately $50 billion annually. The MHCC estimates 
that if the number of people experiencing a new mental illness in a given year was 
reduced by 10%, after 10 years we could be directing more than $4 billion a year 
into other services and supports for British Columbians.

The Mental Health in Schools Strategy is an emergent strategy, allowing the Ministry 
of Education to adapt and respond to the complex, ever-changing mental health 
care system.  The MHiS Strategy provides a vision and pathway for mental health 
promotion in the BC K-12 education system and will help guide the Ministry of 
Education’s actions and investments in mental health promotion over the coming 
years.

The MHiS Strategy is based on a significant amount of research and engagement. It 
is the result of a collaborative approach that includes the voices of education and 
community partners across the mental health sector who are already successfully 
doing the work in the field.

A Note on Adult Well-Being
Although the focus of the MHiS Strategy is mental health promotion for students, 
we also know that the well-being of the adults in the system is just as important. 
Research confirms stress experienced by school administrators can negatively impact 
school staff. Teacher stress has been directly linked to increased student stress levels, 
spilling over from the teacher to the student and impacting social adjustment and 
student performance. 

Not only does adult stress impact students directly, it can also lead to increased 
sick days taken by staff, increased disability claims and challenges with retention 
and recruitment, all of which cost the school system as a whole. Using a systems 
awareness lens, and in particular focusing on compassionate systems leadership, 
acknowledges that adult well-being is a critical element towards alignment and 
improved system-wide mental health outcomes. Through a system-wide approach 
to mental health promotion, the Ministry aims to improve mental health outcomes 
for students, as well as impact the overall long-term social and economic returns on 
investment.  

The importance of addressing 
the well-being of adults in 
the system has never been 
more apparent than during 
the COVID-19 pandemic. 
Throughout the pandemic, 
teachers and school staff 
remain focused on supporting 
their students,  
while trying to maintain 
their own mental health and 
establish balance in new ways 
of living and teaching.

Though there is no clear 
and consistent definition of 
“system-wide,” we have used 
the term in the MHiS strategy 
to refer to the innovations and 
approaches used in the school 
system that reach multiple 
people (students, teachers, 
administrators, parents etc.)  
at multiple levels. System-wide 
approaches can be used at the 
provincial, district and school 
levels. 
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Mental Health in Schools
The Mental Health in Schools Strategy is the Ministry of 
Education’s commitment to moving forward with a coherent 
system-wide approach to mental health promotion in schools. 
The Mental Health in Schools Strategy focuses on three main 
elements – Compassionate Systems Leadership, Capacity 
Building, and Mental Health in the Classroom – which 
build upon a foundation of social emotional learning that has 
developed in BC over the past decade. The MHiS Strategy is 
layering mental health promotion as our next step in system 
transformation. 

Building on these three elements, there are key principles that 
guide how we work collaboratively to achieve our goals. The 
Ministry is committed to taking an equitable, culturally safe 
and strengths-based approach that is informed by evidence 
and built through a collaborative and co-constructed practice.  

MENTAL HEALTH 
IN SCHOOLS STRATEGY

Capacity 
Building 

A Pathway 
to Hope

erase
Strategy

Mental Health 
in the 

Classroom 

Compassionate 
Systems 

Leadership

HIGH and 
MEASUREABLE
STANDARDS

HEALTHY and  
EFFECTIVE LEARNING 
ENVIRONMENTS

QUALITY
TEACHING and 
LEADERSHIP

STUDENT
CENTRED
LEARNING

FUTURE
ORIENTATION

STUDENT
SUCCESS

EDUCATED CITIZEN

EDUCATED CITIZEN

The Ministry of Education’s 
Policy for Student Success
The Ministry of Education’s mandate is to enable all learners 
to maximize their potential.  This mandate is reflected in 
the Policy for Student Success and is what fuels our passion 
to work toward an ideal future state where all citizens 
are educated, engaged and thriving in a rapidly changing 
world. By focusing on the system as a whole, which centers 
on students and supports teachers and school leadership, 
we will continue to foster safe, healthy and caring learning 
environments, which in turn will support continued and 

https://www2.gov.bc.ca/gov/content/education-training/k-12/administration/program-management/vision-for-student-success
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measurable student success.

Cultivating system-wide well-being through compassionate 
leadership.
To support student well-being and resiliency, adults must have the tools and practices to support their own well-being. 
Compassionate systems leadership has three core elements to support systems change. 

1| Internal work - includes self-reflection and practice

2| Relationship work - authentic connections where space is created to be truly present 

3| System work - connections between self, others and the broader system 

Compassionate systems leadership in education is an approach that inspires transformation and instructional best practices that 
lead to student success. It is anchored in self-awareness, social awareness, responsible decision-making, self management and 
relationship skills. Building on the strong foundation of leadership development that already exists, we need to engage new 

COMPASSIONATE 
SYSTEMS LEADERSHIP

ELEMENT 

01

system awareness tools and embed compassion into the work. 

Key Actions for Compassionate Systems 
Leadership

We will: 

• Partner with education leaders to explore and foster 
adult well-being in the school system.

• Develop compassionate systems leadership training 
and infrastructure to support education leaders in both 
English and French. 

• Embed compassionate systems leadership into early 
learning to support Kindergarten transitions.

• Support the implementation of the Integrated Service 
Delivery (ISD) Model to collaboratively address the 
needs of children, youth and their families through an 
integrated and aligned system-wide approach to mental 
health care.
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CAPACITY  
BUILDING

ELEMENT  

02 

Providing the school system with the tools and supports to build 
capacity for mental health in schools  
While the Mental Health in Schools Strategy focusses on mental health promotion, the Ministry of Education recognizes 
that mental health exists on a spectrum and there are students who need more assistance. In these cases, we rely on cross-
government and community resources to provide more intensive supports. Schools are an important first step on a pathway of 
care. This means the school system must work to build meaningful relationships with community partners and service providers to 
ensure students will receive services and more intensive support, as needed. 

There is a resounding consensus among researchers, educators, parents and students that a focus on social emotional learning, 
mental health literacy and trauma-informed practice is an effective way to promote students’ positive mental health. 

It is important that we have meaningful engagement with Indigenous communities to ensure that mental health promotion 
efforts are culturally relevant, equitable and safe for all students.

SOCIAL EMOTIONAL LEARNING is a set of specific skills that help individuals set goals, 
manage behaviour, build relationships, and process and remember information.

MENTAL HEALTH LITERACY is the knowledge and understanding of how to develop and 
maintain mental well-being; identify risk factors and signs of mental health challenges; 
access help when needed; and reduce stigma around the topic of mental health.

TRAUMA-INFORMED PRACTICE promotes inclusive and compassionate learning 
environments; understanding coping strategies; supporting independence; and addressing 
students’ need to minimize additional stress or trauma.
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BC is recognized worldwide for its robust mental health 
evidence, tools and approaches; this data and research forms 
a foundation to support the process of continuous learning, 
development and improvement. 

In addition to building capacity in mental health promotion, 
there is a need to further build capacity in interpreting data. 
The Ministry continues to enhance data collection and research 
to strengthen the foundation for inquiry-based conversation. 

Key Actions for Capacity Building

We will: 

• Create opportunities for school communities to learn about emerging trends and practices and to 
understand the latest data and research.

• Support a Mental Health Leadership Network of mental health leads from each school district.

• Work with students and families to inform mental health priorities. 

• Promote evidence-based approaches to mental health for educators, families and students.

• Enhance mental health data to build capacity to better understand, evaluate and measure system 
improvements, student mental health outcomes and inform priorities.

A “whole child” approach recognizes that 
academic and life success are intertwined with 
social emotional learning, mental health literacy and 
trauma-informed practice, three key elements that 
support a system-wide mental health promotion 
strategy.
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MENTAL HEALTH  
IN THE CLASSROOM

ELEMENT  

03 

Embedding mental well-being and Indigenous Knowledge and 
Perspectives throughout all learning environments
We know that the best learning is rooted in relationships, and the redesigned K-12 curriculum was developed to honour this by 
creating safe, nurturing and caring learning environments. 

The Core Competencies and Indigenous Knowledge and Perspectives are foundational to the redesigned curriculum and are 
applied across all grades and subject areas. In addition to these curricular foundations, the Physical and Health Education (PHE) 
curriculum focuses on well-being and the connections between physical, intellectual, mental, and social health.

Core Competencies
The K-12 curriculum identifies three core competencies: 
Communication, Thinking, and Personal and Social. Each 
of the competencies support social emotional learning and 
allow concepts related to mental wellness to be embedded 
in all subjects, at each grade level. The Personal and Social 
competencies include skills that students need to thrive 
as individuals, as well as to understand and care about 
themselves and others. Because the core competencies are 
cross-curricular, teachers in all subject areas can pursue 
emergent learning opportunities and connect them back to 
the core competencies. By linking their teaching to the core 
competencies, teachers can address mental wellness topics in 
any class. 

Indigenous Knowledge and Perspectives 
The redesigned K-12 curriculum embeds Indigenous knowledge 
and worldviews in every area of learning for all students. This 
includes incorporating the First Peoples Principles of Learning 
into the classroom environments where all learners feel 
represented, as well as culturally and emotionally safe.

The Role of Educators and Mental Health 

Educators are not mental health professionals, 
nor should they be. Their role is to have open 
conversations with students about mental well-
being, provide information about mental health 
and connect students to resources when they need 
them.

The First Peoples Principles of Learning focus on 
learning as a holistic, reflective and relational 
experience that supports the well-being of the self, 
the family, the community, the land, the spirit and 
the ancestors.

http://www.fnesc.ca/wp/wp-content/uploads/2020/09/FNESC-Learning-First-Peoples-poster-11x17-hi-res-v2.pdf
http://www.fnesc.ca/wp/wp-content/uploads/2020/09/FNESC-Learning-First-Peoples-poster-11x17-hi-res-v2.pdf
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Physical and Health Education
The Physical and Health Education (PHE) curriculum focuses on well-being and the connections between physical, intellectual, 
mental and social health. By combining physical education and health education, the PHE curriculum highlights the 
interconnections between physical and mental health, positive interpersonal relationships, substance use education, and how 
interactions with the community affect overall well-being.

Key Actions for Mental Health in  
Classrooms
We will: 

• Work with educators, to strengthen the tools and 
resources needed to embed mental health and well-
being into each classroom. 

• Work with early learning educators to improve social 
emotional learning outcomes for children through the 
Early Learning Framework. 

• Develop a common language and understanding of 
mental health terms to improve mental health literacy 
and reduce stigma.

• Develop strategies to support educators to address 
substance use through the curriculum.

CONCLUSION

Alignment with Early Learning

The quality of children’s experiences in the years 
before they start school sets the stage for learning 
and health outcomes both at school and into 
adulthood. 

The Ministry developed the Early Learning 
Framework to support those working in early years 
settings. The Framework explicitly links to the Core 
Competencies in B.C’s redesigned K-12 curriculum 
and ensures smoother transitions between the early 
learning and K-12 sectors.

The Framework also addresses mental health 
promotion in the early years, through social 
emotional learning.

https://www2.gov.bc.ca/gov/content/education-training/early-learning/teach/early-learning-framework
https://www2.gov.bc.ca/gov/content/education-training/early-learning/teach/early-learning-framework
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CONCLUSION 

The Mental Health in Schools Strategy was developed based on a significant amount of research and engagement. It is the result 
of a collaborative approach that includes the voices of education and community partners across the sector who are successfully 
doing work in the field. The MHiS Strategy is the guiding document for the BC school system to provide students a strong 
foundation for their future.

The promotion of student mental health is our collective responsibility. We know that learning is best rooted in relationships that 
are built in safe, caring and nurturing environments. The MHiS Strategy lays the foundation on which we can continue to build on 
the work that is happening in our schools. By working together as partners – educators, Indigenous Rightsholders and partners, 
researchers, government, students and parents – we can create healthy and effective environments that will contribute to the 
success of all learners.













ENROLMENT AS AT SEPTEMBER 30, 2020 AND COMPARISON TO 2019-2020

SCHOOL K 1 2 3 4 5 6 7 8 9 10 GA 11 12

Secn 

Ungr

TOTAL 

HEADCOUNT 

20-21

TOTAL FTE 

20-21

TOTAL 

HEADCOUNT 

19-20

TOTAL FTE 

19-20

BROOKS 8-12** 115 137 132 116 190 2 692 683.938 792 760.063

EDGEHILL 33 32 32 17 22 19 16 27 198 198.000 212 212.000

HENDERSON 6 12 12 15 16 15 14 10 100 100.000 100 100.000

JAMES THOMSON 19 28 29 29 39 38 25 35 242 242.000 289 289.000

KELLY CREEK 22 22 19 14 22 17 11 12 139 139.000 131 131.000

TEXADA 6 3 1 1 1 4 5 2 23 23.000 23 23.000

WESTVIEW 31 34 39 31 41 49 57 37 319 319.000 342 342.000

SUB TOTAL 117 37 132 107 141 142 128 123 115 137 132 0 116 190 1713 1704.938 1889 1857.063

** Brooks - does not include Cadre or International Students (Cadre:  20 and International:  28)

DL PIE Powell River 12 19 20 20 17 18 25 21 17 37 16 3 23 23 271 224.125 348 292.000 *

DL PIE Vanc. Isl. 28 30 33 40 32 42 37 27 22 43 18 23 23 398 345.750

DL PIE Isl. Disc. 76 85 84 75 62 63 64 47 41 33 7 7 6 650 631.000 324 272.500

TOTAL PIE 1319 1202.375 672 564.500

WLC PROGRAMS 2 5 3 5 11 26 26.000 63 49.250

CONTINUING ED 1 1 24 26 4.750 124 34.750

DISTRICT TOTALS 117 37 132 107 141 142 128 123 117 142 135 6 128 214 3084 2938.063 2748 2505.563

* DL PIE Powell River and DL PIE Vanc. Isl. is combined in the 2019-2020 comparison data



SCHOOL DISTRICT 47 - SUSPENSION, EXCLUSION AND SECLUSION REPORT YEAR TO DATE 2020-2021

SUSPENSIONS (BY INCIDENT) SEPT OCT NOV DEC JAN FEB MAR APR MAY JUNE YEAR TO DATE

10 days or less (non-violent) 1 1

10 days or less (violent) 1 1

11-20 days (non-violent) 0

11-20 days (violent) 0

20 days or more (non-violent) 0

20 days or more (violent) 0

Indefinite (non-violent) 0

Indefinite (violent/threats of violence) 0

indefinite (first drug offence) 0

Less than 20 days (first drug offence) 0

20 + days (first drug offence) 0

20 + days (second drug offence) 0

Indefinite (second + drug/alcohol offence) 0

TOTAL SUSPENSIONS 2

EXCLUSIONS

Exclusions - Elementary 0

Exclusions - Secondary 0

SECLUSIONS

Seclusions - Elementary 0

Seclusions - Secondary 0

(Violent incidents include: fighting, physical

altercations, threats of bodily harm, etc.

Verbal is considered violent if threatening)
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Course Synopsis: 

The word psychology comes from the Greek word psyche, which means the vital breath/human soul (from the Greek goddess Psykhe, the 
goddess of the soul). Psychology encompasses all aspects of the human experience, and the study of psychology encompasses all the elements 
involved in understanding behavior, and more precisely, the factors that motivate behavior.  
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Psychology is the study of mental processes, behavior, and the relationship between the two. Mental processes in psychology refer to learning, 
motivation, reasoning, and emotion, among others. In other words, the study of psychology involves learning how humans think, feel, learn, 
interact, perceive, and understand, whether alone or when interacting with other people or the environment.  

  

Goals and Rationale: 

Psychology 11 is intended to help learners gain a better understanding of themselves and others including their own behaviours, knowledge 
about how psychologists study human behaviour, and practical applications for enriching their lives. 

 

Aboriginal Worldviews and Perspectives: 

The First Peoples Principles of Learning are inherent in the aspects included in Psychology 11. The study of psychology is inseparable from 
connectedness, relationships, wellbeing, identity, and culture. 
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Course Name: Psychology 11 Grade: 11 

  

BIG IDEAS 

Psychology is a 

discipline that allows 

us to explore human 

strengths. 

 Psychology takes a 

biopsychosocial 

approach to explore 

our assumptions, 

values, and 

behaviours. 

 The study of psychology 

provides opportunities 

for critical thinking and 

prepares us to think 

smarter. 

    

 

 

 

Learning Standards 

Curricular Competencies Content 

Students are expected to do the following: 

 
Introducing Psychology 

 Explain why using our intuition about everyday 
behaviour is insufficient for a complete 
understanding of the causes of behaviour. 

 Describe the difference between values and facts 
and explain how the scientific method is used to 
differentiate between the two. 

 Explain how psychology changed from a 
philosophical to a scientific discipline. 

 List some of the most important questions that 
concern psychologists. 

 Outline the basic schools of psychology and how 
each school has contributed to psychology. 

 
Major Perspectives  

 Understand the core premises of biological 
psychology and the early thinkers. 

 Critically evaluate empirical support for various 
biological psychology theories. 

 ‘Explore applications and implications of key 
concepts from this perspective. 

Students are expected to know the following: 

 Psychology is the scientific study of mind and behaviour. 

 Though it is easy to think that everyday situations have common sense 
answers, scientific studies have found that people are not always as good at 
predicting outcomes as they think they are. 

 The hindsight bias leads us to think that we could have predicted events that 
we actually could not have predicted. 

 People are frequently unaware of the causes of their own behaviours. 

 Psychologists use the scientific method to collect, analyze, and interpret 
evidence. 

 Employing the scientific method allows the scientist to collect empirical data 
objectively, which adds to the accumulation of scientific knowledge. 

 Psychological phenomena are complex, and making predictions about them is 
difficult because of individual differences and because they are multiply 
determined at different levels of explanation. 

 The first psychologists were philosophers, but the field became more empirical 
and objective as more sophisticated scientific approaches were developed 
and employed. 

 Some basic questions asked by psychologists include those about nature 
versus nurture, free will versus determinism, accuracy versus inaccuracy, 
and conscious versus unconscious processing. 

 The structuralists attempted to analyze the nature of consciousness using 
introspection. 
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 Understand some of the psychological forces 
underlying human behaviour. 

 Identify levels of consciousness. 

 Critically discuss various models and theories of 
psychodynamic and behavioural psychology. 

 Understand the concept of psychological types 
and identify applications and examples in daily 
life. 

 Understand the principles of behaviourist 
psychology and how these differ from 
psychodynamic principles in terms of theory and 
application. 

  Distinguish between classical and operant 
conditioning. 

 Become familiar with key behaviourist theorists 
and approaches. 

 Identify applications of the behaviourist models in 
modern life. 

 Understand the key principles of humanistic 
psychology. 

 Differentiate humanistic psychology from 
biological, psychodynamic, and behaviourist 
psychology. 

 Critically discuss and differentiate between key 
humanistic concepts such as motivation, need, 
adaptation, and perception. 

 Identify how humanistic psychology, and its related 
streams of cognitive and evolutionary 
psychology, have influenced aspects of daily life 
and work. 

 
Psychological Science  

 Describe the principles of the scientific method and 
explain its importance in conducting and 
interpreting research. 

 Differentiate laws from theories and explain how 
research hypotheses are developed and tested. 

 Discuss the procedures that researchers use to 
ensure that their research with humans and with 
animals is ethical. 

 The functionalists based their ideas on the work of Darwin, and their 
approaches led to the field of evolutionary psychology. 

 The behaviourists explained behaviour in terms of stimulus, response, and 
reinforcement, while denying the presence of free will. 

 Cognitive psychologists study how people perceive, process, and remember 
information. 

 Psychodynamic psychology focuses on unconscious drives and the potential to 
improve lives through psychoanalysis and psychotherapy. 

 The social-cultural approach focuses on the social situation, including how 
cultures and social norms influence our behaviour. 

 Biological psychology – also known as biopsychology or psychobiology – is the 
application of the principles of biology to the study of mental processes and 
behaviour. 

 Biological psychology as a scientific discipline emerged from a variety of 
scientific and philosophical traditions in the 18th and 19th centuries. 

 The fields of behavioural neuroscience, cognitive neuroscience, and 
neuropsychology are all subfields of biological psychology. 

 Biological psychologists are interested in measuring biological, physiological, or 
genetic variables in an attempt to relate them to psychological or behavioural 
variables. 

 Psychodynamic psychology emphasizes the systematic study of the 
psychological forces that underlie human behaviour, feelings, and emotions 
and how they might relate to early experience. 

 Consciousness is the awareness of the self in space and time and is defined as 
human awareness to both internal and external stimuli. 

 Sigmund Freud divided human consciousness into three levels of awareness: 
the conscious, preconscious, and unconscious. Each of these levels 
corresponds and overlaps with his ideas of the id, ego, and superego. 

 Most psychodynamic approaches use talk therapy to examine maladaptive 
functions that developed early in life and are, at least in part, unconscious. 

 Carl Jung expanded upon Freud’s theories, introducing the concepts of the 
archetype, the collective unconscious, and individuation. 

 Freud’s theory describes dreams as having both latent and manifest content. 
Latent content relates to deep unconscious wishes or fantasies while 
manifest content is superficial and meaningless. 

 Unconscious processing includes several theories: threat simulation theory, 
expectation fulfillment theory, activation synthesis theory, continual activation 
theory. 

 One application of unconscious processing includes incubation as it relates to 
problem solving: the concept of “sleeping on a problem” or disengaging from 
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 Differentiate the goals of descriptive, correlational, 
and experimental research designs and explain 
the advantages and disadvantages of each. 

 Explain the goals of descriptive research and the 
statistical techniques used to interpret it. 

 Summarize the uses of correlational research and 
describe why correlational research cannot be 
used to infer causality. 

 Review the procedures of experimental research 
and explain how it can be used to draw causal 
inferences. 

 Outline the four potential threats to the validity of 
research and discuss how they may make it 
difficult to accurately interpret research findings. 

 Describe how confounding may reduce the internal 
validity of an experiment. 

 Explain how generalization, replication, and meta-
analyses are used to assess the external validity 
of research findings. 

 
Brains, Bodies and Behaviours  

 Describe the structure and functions of the neuron. 

 Draw a diagram of the pathways of communication 
within and between neurons. 

 List three of the major neurotransmitters and 
describe their functions. 

 Describe the structures and function of the “old 
brain” and its influence on behaviour. 

 Explain the structure of the cerebral cortex (its 
hemispheres and lobes) and the function of 
each area of the cortex. 

 Define the concepts of brain plasticity, 
neurogenesis, and brain lateralization. 

 Compare and contrast the techniques that 
scientists use to view and understand brain 
structures and functions. 

 Summarize the primary functions of the CNS and 
of the subsystems of the PNS. 

 Explain how the electrical components of the 
nervous system and the chemical components 

actively and consciously trying to solve a problem in order to allow one’s 
unconscious processes to work on the problem. 

 The study of neural correlates of consciousness seeks to link activity within the 
brain to subjective human experiences in the physical world. 

 Activity in the brain can be studied and captured using functional magnetic 
resonance imaging (fMRI) scans. 

 Behaviourist psychology should concern itself with the observable behaviour of 
people and animals, not with unobservable events that take place in their 
minds. 

 The main influences of behaviourist psychology were Ivan Pavlov (1849-1936), 
Edward Lee Thorndike (1874-1949), John B. Watson (1878-1958), and B.F. 
Skinner (1904-1990). 

 The idea that we develop responses to certain stimuli that are not naturally 
occurring is called “classical conditioning.” 

 Operant conditioning refers to how an organism operates on the environment 
or how it responds to what is presented to it in the environment. 

 Reinforcement means to strengthen, and is used in psychology to refer to any 
stimulus that strengthens or increases the probability of a specific response. 

 There are four types of reinforcement: positive, negative, punishment, and 
extinction. 

 Behaviourist researchers used experimental methods (puzzle box, operant 
conditioning or Skinner box, Little Albert experiment) to investigate learning 
processes. 

 Today, behaviourism is still prominent in applications such as gamification. 

 Humanistic psychology emerged as the “third force” in psychology after 
psychodynamic and behaviourist psychologies. 

 The key principles of humanistic psychology include human capacity for self-
actualization, self-direction, and choice. 

 Carl Rogers identified five principles of a full functioning person as open, 
present, trusting, creative, and fulfilled. 

 Humanistic psychology relies on subjective factors and utilizes qualitative 
methods of study. 

 Abraham Maslow introduced a hierarchy of human needs including 
physiological, safety, belonging, esteem, and self-actualization. 

 With the advance of humanistic psychology, human motivation theory shifted 
from a purely external or extrinsic focus to the acknowledgment of an 
intrinsic focus. 

 Positive psychology recommends focusing on people’s strengths and virtues as 
a point of departure rather than analyzing the underlying psychopathology. 
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of the endocrine system work together to 
influence behaviour. 

 
Sensing and Perceiving   

 Review and summarize the capacities and 
limitations of human sensation. 

 Explain the difference between sensation and 
perception and describe how psychologists 
measure sensory and difference thresholds. 

 Identify the key structures of the eye and the role 
they play in vision. 

 Summarize how the eye and the visual cortex work 
together to sense and perceive the visual stimuli 
in the environment, including processing 
colours, shape, depth, and motion. 

 Draw a picture of the ear, label its key structures 
and functions, and describe the role they play in 
hearing. 

 Describe the process of transduction in hearing. 

 Summarize how the senses of taste and olfaction 
transduce stimuli into perceptions. 

 Describe the process of transduction in the senses 
of touch and proprioception. 

 Outline the gate control theory of pain. Explain why 
pain matters and how it may be controlled. 

 Describe how sensation and perception work 
together through sensory interaction, selective 
attention, sensory adaptation, and perceptual 
constancy. 

 Give examples of how our expectations may 
influence our perception, resulting in illusions 
and potentially inaccurate judgments. 

 
States of Consciousness  

 Draw a graphic showing the usual phases of sleep 
during a normal night and notate the 
characteristics of each phase. 

 Review the disorders that affect sleep and the 
costs of sleep deprivation. 

 Flow is a state of optimal performance that can be entered when a person is 
wholeheartedly performing a task or activity for intrinsic purposes.  

 Cognitive psychology is the study of mental processes such as attention, 
memory, perception, language use, problem solving, creativity, and thinking. 

 The main premise of evolutionary psychology is that while today the human 
mind is shaped by the modern social world, it is adapted to the natural 
environment in which it evolved. 

 Psychologists use the scientific method to generate, accumulate, and report 
scientific knowledge. 

 Basic research, which answers questions about behaviour, and applied 
research, which finds solutions to everyday problems, inform each other and 
work together to advance science. 

 Research reports describing scientific studies are published in scientific 
journals so that other scientists and laypersons may review the empirical 
findings. 

 Organizing principles, including laws, theories, and research hypotheses, give 
structure and uniformity to scientific methods. 

 Concerns for conducting ethical research are paramount. Researchers ensure 
that participants are given free choice to participate and that their privacy is 
protected. Informed consent and debriefing help provide humane treatment 
of participants. 

 A cost-benefit analysis is used to determine what research should and should 
not be allowed to proceed. 

 Descriptive, correlational, and experimental research designs are used to 
collect and analyze data. 

 Descriptive designs include case studies, surveys, and naturalistic observation. 
The goal of these designs is to get a picture of the current thoughts, feelings, 
or behaviours in a given group of people. Descriptive research is 
summarized using descriptive statistics. 

 Correlational research designs measure two or more relevant variables and 
assess a relationship between or among them. The variables may be 
presented on a scatter plot to visually show the relationships. The Pearson 
Correlation Coefficient (r) is a measure of the strength of linear relationship 
between two variables. 

 Common-causal variables may cause both the predictor and outcome variable 
in a correlational design, producing a spurious relationship. The possibility of 
common-causal variables makes it impossible to draw causal conclusions 
from correlational research designs. 

 Experimental research involves the manipulation of an independent variable 
and the measurement of a dependent variable. Random assignment to 
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 Outline and explain the similarities and differences 
among the different theories of dreaming. 

 Summarize the major psychoactive drugs and their 
influences on consciousness and behaviour. 

 Review the evidence regarding the dangers of 
recreational drugs. 

 Review the ways that people may alter 
consciousness without using drugs. 

 
Growing and Developing   

 Review the stages of prenatal development. 

 Explain how the developing embryo and fetus may 
be harmed by the presence of teratogens and 
describe what a mother can do to reduce her 
risk. 

 Describe the abilities that newborn infants possess 
and how they actively interact with their 
environments. 

 List the stages in Piaget’s model of cognitive 
development and explain the concepts that are 
mastered in each stage. 

 Critique Piaget’s theory of cognitive development 
and describe other theories that complement 
and expand on it. 

 Summarize the important processes of social 
development that occur in infancy and 
childhood. 

 Summarize the physical and cognitive changes 
that occur for boys and girls during 
adolescence. 

 Explain how adolescents develop a sense of 
morality and of self-identity. 

 Review the physical and cognitive changes that 
accompany early and middle adulthood. 

 Review the physical, cognitive, and social changes 
that accompany late adulthood. 

 Describe the psychological and physical outcomes 
of bereavement. 

conditions is normally used to create initial equivalence between the groups, 
allowing researchers to draw causal conclusions. 

 Research is said to be valid when the conclusions drawn by the researcher are 
legitimate. Because all research has the potential to be invalid, no research 
ever “proves” a theory or research hypothesis. 

 Construct validity, statistical conclusion validity, internal validity, and external 
validity are all types of validity that people who read and interpret research 
need to be aware of. 

 Construct validity refers to the assurance that the measured variables 
adequately measure the conceptual variables. 

 Statistical conclusion validity refers to the assurance that inferences about 
statistical significance are appropriate. 

 Internal validity refers to the assurance that the independent variable has 
caused the dependent variable. Internal validity is greater when confounding 
variables are reduced or eliminated. 

 External validity is greater when effects can be replicated across different 
manipulations, measures, and populations. Scientists use meta-analyses to 
better understand the external validity of research. 

 The central nervous system (CNS) is the collection of neurons that make up the 
brain and the spinal cord. 

 The peripheral nervous system (PNS) is the collection of neurons that link the 
CNS to our skin, muscles, and glands. 

 Neurons are specialized cells, found in the nervous system, which transmit 
information. Neurons contain a dendrite, a soma, and an axon. 

 Some axons are covered with a fatty substance known as the myelin sheath, 
which surrounds the axon, acting as an insulator and allowing faster 
transmission of the electrical signal. 

 The dendrite is a treelike extension that receives information from other 
neurons and transmits electrical stimulation to the soma. 

 The axon is an elongated fibre that transfers information from the soma to the 
terminal buttons. 

 Neurotransmitters relay information chemically from the terminal buttons and 
across the synapses to the receiving dendrites using a lock and key type of 
system. 

 The many different neurotransmitters work together to influence cognition, 
memory, and behaviour. 

 Agonists are drugs that mimic the actions of neurotransmitters, whereas 
antagonists are drugs that block the actions of neurotransmitters. 

 The old brain — including the brain stem, medulla, pons, reticular formation, 
thalamus, cerebellum, amygdala, hypothalamus, and hippocampus — 
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regulates basic survival functions, such as breathing, moving, resting, 
feeding, emotions, and memory. 

 The cerebral cortex, made up of billions of neurons and glial cells, is divided 
into the right and left hemispheres and into four lobes. 

 The frontal lobe is primarily responsible for thinking, planning, memory, and 
judgment. The parietal lobe is primarily responsible for bodily sensations and 
touch. The temporal lobe is primarily responsible for hearing and language. 
The occipital lobe is primarily responsible for vision. Other areas of the cortex 
act as association areas, responsible for integrating information. 

 The brain changes as a function of experience and potential damage in a 
process known as plasticity. The brain can generate new neurons through 
neurogenesis. 

 The motor cortex controls voluntary movements. Body parts requiring the most 
control and dexterity take up the most space in the motor cortex. 

 The sensory cortex receives and processes bodily sensations. Body parts that 
are the most sensitive occupy the greatest amount of space in the sensory 
cortex. 

 The left cerebral hemisphere is primarily responsible for language and speech 
in most people, whereas the right hemisphere specializes in spatial and 
perceptual skills, visualization, and the recognition of patterns, faces, and 
melodies. 

 The severing of the corpus callosum, which connects the two hemispheres, 
creates a “split-brain patient,” with the effect of creating two separate minds 
operating in one person. 

 Studies with split-brain patients as research participants have been used to 
study brain lateralization. 

 Neuroplasticity allows the brain to adapt and change as a function of 
experience or damage. 

 Studying the brains of cadavers can lead to discoveries about brain structure, 
but these studies are limited because the brain is no longer active. 

 Lesion studies are informative about the effects of lesions on different brain 
regions. 

 Electrophysiological recording may be used in animals to directly measure 
brain activity. 

 Measures of electrical activity in the brain, such as electroencephalography 
(EEG), are used to assess brainwave patterns and activity. 

 Functional magnetic resonance imaging (fMRI) measures blood flow in the 
brain during different activities, providing information about the activity of 
neurons and thus the functions of brain regions. 
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 Transcranial magnetic stimulation (TMS) is used to temporarily and safely 
deactivate a small brain region, with the goal of testing the causal effects of 
the deactivation on behaviour. 

 The body uses both electrical and chemical systems to create homeostasis. 

 The CNS is made up of bundles of nerves that carry messages to and from the 
PNS. 

 The peripheral nervous system is composed of the autonomic nervous system 
(ANS) and the peripheral nervous system (PNS). The ANS is further divided 
into the sympathetic (activating) and parasympathetic (calming) nervous 
systems. These divisions are activated by glands and organs in the 
endocrine system. 

 Specific nerves, including sensory neurons, motor neurons, and interneurons, 
each have specific functions. 

 The spinal cord may bypass the brain by responding rapidly using reflexes. 

 The pituitary gland is a master gland, affecting many other glands. 

 Hormones produced by the pituitary and adrenal glands regulate growth, 
stress, sexual functions, and chemical balance in the body. 

 The adrenal glands produce epinephrine and norepinephrine, the hormones 
responsible for our reactions to stress. 

 The sex hormones, testosterone, estrogen, and progesterone, play an 
important role in sex differences. 

 Sensation is the process of receiving information from the environment through 
our sensory organs. Perception is the process of interpreting and organizing 
the incoming information so that we can understand it and react accordingly. 

 Transduction is the conversion of stimuli detected by receptor cells to electrical 
impulses that are transported to the brain. 

 Although our experiences of the world are rich and complex, humans — like all 
species — have their own adapted sensory strengths and sensory 
limitations. 

 Sensation and perception work together in a fluid, continuous process. 

 Our judgments in detection tasks are influenced by both the absolute threshold 
of the signal as well as our current motivations and experiences. Signal 
detection analysis is used to differentiate sensitivity from response biases. 

 The difference threshold, or just noticeable difference, is the ability to detect the 
smallest change in a stimulus about 50% of the time. According to Weber’s 
law, the just noticeable difference increases in proportion to the total intensity 
of the stimulus. 

 Research has found that stimuli can influence behaviour even when they are 
presented below the absolute threshold (i.e., subliminally). The effectiveness 
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of subliminal advertising, however, has not been shown to be of large 
magnitude. 

 Vision is the process of detecting the electromagnetic energy that surrounds 
us. Only a small fraction of the electromagnetic spectrum is visible to 
humans. 

 The visual receptor cells on the retina detect shape, colour, motion, and depth. 

 Light enters the eye through the transparent cornea and passes through the 
pupil at the centre of the iris. The lens adjusts to focus the light on the retina, 
where it appears upside down and backward. Receptor cells on the retina 
are excited or inhibited by the light and send information to the visual cortex 
through the optic nerve. 

 The retina has two types of photoreceptor cells: rods, which detect brightness 
and respond to black and white, and cones, which respond to red, green, 
and blue. Colour blindness occurs when people lack function in the red- or 
green-sensitive cones. 

 Feature detector neurons in the visual cortex help us recognize objects, and 
some neurons respond selectively to faces and other body parts. 

 The Young-Helmholtz trichromatic colour theory proposes that colour 
perception is the result of the signals sent by the three types of cones, 
whereas the opponent-process colour theory proposes that we perceive 
colour as three sets of opponent colours: red-green, yellow-blue, and white-
black. 

 The ability to perceive depth occurs as the result of binocular and monocular 
depth cues. 

 Motion is perceived as a function of the size and brightness of objects. The 
beta effect and the phi phenomenon are examples of perceived motion. 

 Sound waves vibrating through media such as air, water, or metal are the 
stimulus energy that is sensed by the ear. 

 The hearing system is designed to assess frequency (pitch) and amplitude 
(loudness). 

 Sound waves enter the outer ear (the pinna) and are sent to the eardrum via 
the auditory canal. 

 The resulting vibrations are relayed by the three ossicles, causing the oval 
window covering the cochlea to vibrate. The vibrations are detected by the 
cilia (hair cells) and sent via the auditory nerve to the auditory cortex. 

 There are two theories as to how we perceive pitch: The frequency theory of 
hearing suggests that as a sound wave’s pitch changes, nerve impulses of a 
corresponding frequency enter the auditory nerve. The place theory of 
hearing suggests that we hear different pitches because different areas of 
the cochlea respond to higher and lower pitches. 
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 Conductive hearing loss is caused by physical damage to the ear or eardrum 
and may be improved by hearing aids or cochlear implants. Sensorineural 
hearing loss, caused by damage to the hair cells or auditory nerves in the 
inner ear, may be produced by prolonged exposure to sounds of more than 
85 decibels. 

 The ability to taste, smell, and touch are important because they help us avoid 
harm from environmental toxins. 

 The many taste buds on our tongues and inside our mouths allow us to detect 
six basic taste sensations: sweet, salty, sour, bitter, piquancy, and umami. 

 In olfaction, transduction occurs as airborne chemicals that are inhaled through 
the nostrils are detected by receptors in the olfactory membrane. Different 
chemical molecules fit into different receptor cells, creating different smells.  

 The ability to smell diminishes with age and, on average, women have a better 
sense of smell than men. 

 We have a range of different nerve endings embedded in the skin, 
combinations of which respond to the four basic sensations of pressure, hot, 
cold, and pain. But only the sensation of pressure has its own specialized 
receptors. 

 Proprioception is our ability to sense the positions and movements of our body 
parts. Postural and movement information is detected by special neurons 
located in the skin, joints, bones, ears, and tendons, which pick up messages 
from the compression and the contraction of muscles throughout the body. 

 The vestibular system, composed of structures in the inner ear, monitors the 
head’s position and movement, maintaining the body’s balance. 

 Gate control theory explains how large and small neurons work together to 
transmit and regulate the flow of pain to the brain. 

 Sensory interaction occurs when different senses work together, for instance, 
when taste, smell, and touch together produce the flavour of food. 

 Selective attention allows us to focus on some sensory experiences while 
tuning out others. 

 Sensory adaptation occurs when we become less sensitive to some aspects of 
our environment, freeing us to focus on more important changes. 

 Perceptual constancy allows us to perceive an object as the same, despite 
changes in sensation. 

 Cognitive illusions are examples of how our expectations can influence our 
perceptions. 

 Our emotions, motivations, desires, and even our culture can influence our 
perceptions. 

 Consciousness, our subjective awareness of ourselves and our environment, is 
functional because it allows us to plan activities and monitor our goals. 
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 Psychologists believe that consciousness is the result of neural activity in the 
brain. 

 Human and animal behaviour is influenced by biological rhythms, including 
annual, monthly, and circadian rhythms. 

 Sleep consists of two major stages: REM and non-REM sleep. Non-REM sleep 
has three substages, N1, N2, and N3. 

 Each sleep stage is marked by a specific pattern of biological responses and 
brainwaves. 

 Sleep is essential for adequate functioning during the day. Sleep disorders, 
including insomnia, sleep apnea, and narcolepsy, may make it hard for us to 
sleep well. 

 Dreams occur primarily during REM sleep. Some theories of dreaming, such as 
Freud’s, are based on the content of the dreams. Other theories of dreaming 
propose that dreaming is related to memory consolidation. The activation-
synthesis theory of dreaming is based only on neural activity. 

 Psychoactive drugs are chemicals that change our state of consciousness. 
They work by influencing neurotransmitters in the CNS. 

 Using psychoactive drugs may create tolerance and, when they are no longer 
used, withdrawal. Addiction may result from tolerance and the difficulty of 
withdrawal. 

 Stimulants, including caffeine, nicotine, and amphetamines, increase neural 
activity by blocking the reuptake of dopamine, norepinephrine, and serotonin 
in the CNS. 

 Depressants, including, alcohol, barbiturates, and benzodiazepines, decrease 
consciousness by increasing the production of the neurotransmitter GABA 
and decreasing the production of the neurotransmitter acetylcholine. 

 Opioids, including codeine, opium, morphine, and heroin, produce euphoria 
and analgesia by increasing activity in opioid receptor neurons. 

 Hallucinogens, including cannabis, mescaline, and LSD, create an extreme 
alteration of consciousness as well as the possibility of hallucinations. 

 Recreational drug use is influenced by social norms as well as by individual 
differences. People who are more likely to take risks are also more likely to 
use drugs. 

 Hypnosis is a trancelike state of consciousness consisting of heightened 
susceptibility, deep relaxation, and intense focus. 

 Hypnosis is not useful for helping people remember past events, but it can be 
used to alleviate anxiety and pain. 

 Sensory deprivation is the intentional reduction of stimulation to one or more of 
the senses. It can be used therapeutically to treat insomnia, muscle tension, 
and pain. 



 BAA Course ~ Psychology 11  

 Meditation refers to a range of techniques that can create relaxation and well-
being. 

 Development begins at the moment of conception, when the sperm from the 
father merges with the egg from the mother. 

 Within a span of nine months, development progresses from a single cell into a 
zygote and then into an embryo and fetus. 

 The fetus is connected to the mother through the umbilical cord and the 
placenta, which allow the fetus and mother to exchange nourishment and 
waste. The fetus is protected by the amniotic sac. 

 The embryo and fetus are vulnerable and may be harmed by the presence of 
teratogens. 

 Smoking, alcohol use, and drug use are all likely to be harmful to the 
developing embryo or fetus, and the mother should entirely refrain from 
these behaviours during pregnancy or if she expects to become pregnant. 

 Environmental factors, especially homelessness and poverty, have a 
substantial negative effect on healthy child development. 

 Babies are born with a variety of skills and abilities that contribute to their 
survival, and they also actively learn by engaging with their environments. 

 The habituation technique is used to demonstrate the newborn’s ability to 
remember and learn from experience. 

 Children use both assimilation and accommodation to develop functioning 
schemas of the world. 

 Piaget’s theory of cognitive development proposes that children develop in a 
specific series of sequential stages: sensorimotor, preoperational, concrete 
operational, and formal operational. 

 Piaget’s theories have had a major impact, but they have also been critiqued 
and expanded. 

 Social development requires the development of a secure base from which 
children feel free to explore. 

 Attachment styles refer to the security of this base and more generally to the 
type of relationship that people, and especially children, develop with those 
who are important to them. 

 Longitudinal and cross-sectional studies are each used to test hypotheses 
about development, and each approach has advantages and disadvantages. 

 Adolescence is the period of time between the onset of puberty and emerging 
adulthood. 

 Emerging adulthood is the period from age 18 years until the mid-20s in which 
young people begin to form bonds outside the family, attend university, and 
find work. Even so, they tend not to be fully independent and have not taken 
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on all the responsibilities of adulthood. This stage is most prevalent in 
Western cultures. 

 Puberty is a developmental period in which hormonal changes cause rapid 
physical alterations in the body. 

 The cerebral cortex continues to develop during adolescence and early 
adulthood, enabling improved reasoning, judgment, impulse control, and 
long-term planning. 

 A defining aspect of adolescence is the development of a consistent and 
committed self-identity 

 The process of developing an identity can take time but most adolescents 
succeed in developing a stable identity.  

 Kohlberg’s theory proposes that moral reasoning is divided into the following 
stages: preconventional morality, conventional morality, and 
postconventional morality. 

 Kohlberg’s theory of morality has been expanded and challenged, particularly 
by Gilligan, who has focused on differences in morality between boys and 
girls. 

 It is in early and middle adulthood that muscle strength, reaction time, cardiac 
output, and sensory abilities begin to decline. 

 One of the key signs of aging in women is the decline in fertility, culminating in 
menopause, which is marked by the cessation of the menstrual period. 

 The different social stages in adulthood, such as marriage, parenthood, and 
work, are loosely determined by a social clock, a culturally recognized time 
for each phase. 

 Most older adults maintain an active lifestyle, remain as happy as they were 
when younger, or happier, and increasingly value their social connections 
with family and friends. 

 Although older adults have slower cognitive processing overall (fluid 
intelligence), their experience in the form of crystallized intelligence — or 
existing knowledge about the world and the ability to use it — is maintained 
and even strengthened during old age. 

 Expectancies about change in aging vary across cultures and may influence 
how people respond to getting older. 

 A portion of the elderly suffer from age-related brain diseases, such as 
dementia, a progressive neurological disease that includes significant loss of 
cognitive abilities, and Alzheimer’s disease, a fatal form of dementia that is 
related to changes in the cerebral cortex. 

 Two significant social stages in late adulthood are retirement and dealing with 
grief and bereavement. Studies show that a well-planned retirement can be a 
pleasant experience. 
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 A significant number of people going through the grieving process are at 
increased risk of mortality and physical and mental illness, but grief 
counselling can be effective in helping these people cope with their loss. 

 

 

Content – Elaborations  

 psychology: the scientific study of mind and behaviour 

 data: any information collected through formal observation or measurement 

 hindsight bias: the tendency to think that we could have predicted something that has already occurred that we probably would not have 
been able to predict  

 empirical methods: the processes of collecting and organizing data and drawing conclusions about those data 

 scientific method: the set of assumptions, rules, and procedures that scientists use to conduct empirical research 

 facts: objective statements determined to be accurate through empirical study 

 dualism: that the mind is fundamentally different from the mechanical body 

 structuralism: a school of psychology whose goal was to identify the basic elements or structures of psychological experience 

 introspection: involves asking research participants to describe exactly what they experience as they work on mental tasks 

 school of functionalism: aimed to understand why animals and humans have developed the particular psychological aspects that they 
currently possess 

 evolutionary psychology: a branch of psychology that applies the Darwinian theory of natural selection to human and animal behaviour 

 fitness: refers to the extent to which having a given characteristic helps the individual organism survive and reproduce at a higher rate than do 
other members of the species who do not have the characteristic 

 psychodynamic psychology: an approach to understanding human behaviour that focuses on the role of unconscious thoughts, feelings, 
and memories revealed through talk therapy and dream analysis 

 behaviourism: a school of psychology that is based on the premise that it is not possible to objectively study the mind, and therefore that 
psychologists should limit their attention to the study of behaviour itself 

 cognitive psychology: a field of psychology that studies mental processes, including perception, thinking, memory, and judgment 

 neuroimaging: the use of various techniques to provide pictures of the structure and function of the living brain 

 social-cultural psychology: the study of how the social situations and the cultures in which people find themselves influence thinking and 
behaviour 

 conformity: the process by which people frequently change their beliefs and behaviours to be similar to those of the people they care about 

 culture: the common set of social norms, including religious and family values and other moral beliefs, shared by the people who live in a 
geographical region 

 individualism: values the self and one’s independence from others 

 collectivism: focuses on developing harmonious social relationships with others 

 paradigm: prevailing model or way of looking at something 

 integrative psychology: psychology that combines the nature and actions of mind, body, and spirit  

 biological psychologists are interested in measuring biological, physiological, or genetic variables in an attempt to relate them to 
psychological or behavioural variables 
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 introspection, which involves training people to concentrate and report on their conscious experiences as they react to stimuli 

 reductionist: the belief that the simple is the source of the complex. In other words, to explain a complex phenomenon (like human behaviour) 
a person needs to reduce it to its elements. 

 holist: the whole is more than the sum of the parts 

 cognitive psychologists rely on the functionalist insights in discussing how affect, or emotion, and environment or events interact and result 
in specific perceptions 

 frontal lobe: also known as the motor cortex, this portion of the brain is involved in motor skills, higher level cognition, and expressive 
language  

 occipital lobe: also known as the visual cortex, this portion of the brain is involved in interpreting visual stimuli and information 

 parietal lobe: also known as the somatosensory cortex, this portion of the brain is involved in the processing of other tactile sensory 
information such as pressure, touch, and pain 

 temporal lobe: also known as the auditory cortex, this portion of the brain is involved in the interpretation of the sounds and language we hear 

 peripheral nervous system: another part of the nervous system that comprises of two parts: 
o somatic nervous system, which controls the actions of skeletal muscles. 
o autonomic nervous system, which regulates automatic processes such as heart rate, breathing, and blood pressure 

 sympathetic nervous system: controls the fight-or-flight response, a reflex that prepares the body to respond to danger in the environment 

 parasympathetic nervous system: works to bring the body back to its normal state after a fight-or-flight response 

 visual attention: the brain’s ability to selectively filter unattended or unwanted information from reaching awareness 

 psychodynamic perspective: proposes that there are psychological forces underlying human behaviour, feelings, and emotions 

 consciousness: the awareness of the self in space and time 

 conscious: this level consists of all those things we are aware of, including things that we know about ourselves and our surroundings 

 preconscious: this level consists of those things we could pay conscious attention to if we so desired, and where many memories are stored 
for easy retrieval 

 unconscious: consists of those things that are outside of conscious awareness, including many memories, thoughts, and urges of which we 
are not aware 

 developmental psychologists: view consciousness not as a single entity, but as a developmental process with potential higher stages of 
cognitive, moral, and spiritual quality 

 social psychologists: view consciousness as a product of cultural influence having little to do with the individual  

 neuropsychologists: view consciousness as ingrained in neural systems and organic brain structures 

 cognitive psychologists: base their understanding of consciousness on computer science 

 psychoanalysis: a type of analysis that involves attempting to affect behavioural change through having patients talk about their difficulties 

 anima: the archetype symbolizing the unconscious female component of the male psyche 

 animus: the archetype symbolizing the unconscious male component of the female psyche 

 self: the archetype symbolizing the totality of the personality; represents the striving for unity, wholeness, and integration 

 persona: the mask or image a person presents to the world; designed to make a particular impression on others, while concealing a person’s 
true nature 

 shadow: the side of a personality that a person does not consciously display in public 

 dreams: specific expressions of the unconscious that have a definite, purposeful structure indicating an underlying idea or intention 
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 complexes: usually unconscious and repressed emotionally toned symbolic material that is incompatible with consciousness 

 individuation: the process of integrating the conscious with the unconscious, synergizing the many components of the psyche 

 introvert: inner-directed; needs privacy and space; chooses solitude to recover energy; often reflective 

 extravert: outer-directed; needs sociability; chooses people as a source of energy; often action-oriented 

 thinking function: logical; sees cause and effect relations; cool, distant, frank, and questioning 

 feeling function: creative, warm, intimate; has a sense of valuing positively or negatively 

 sensing function: Sensory; oriented toward the body and senses; detailed, concrete, and present 

 intuitive: sees many possibilities in situations; goes with hunches; impatient with earthy details; impractical; sometimes not present 

 behaviourism focuses on observable behaviour as a means to studying the human psyche 

 classical conditioning: as we learn, we alter the way we perceive our environment, the way we interpret the incoming stimuli, and therefore 
the way we interact, or behave 

 operant conditioning: another type of learning that refers to how an organism operates on the environment or how it responds to what is 
presented to it in the environment 

 reinforcement: refers to any stimulus which strengthens or increases the probability of a specific response 

 positive reinforcement: involves adding something in order to increase a response 

 negative reinforcement: involves taking something negative away in order to increase a response 

 punishment: refers to adding something aversive in order to decrease a behaviour 

 extinction involves removing something in order to decrease a behaviour 

 gamification: applying game incentives such as prompts, competition, badges, and rewards to ordinary activities 

 humanistic psychology: holds a hopeful, constructive view of human beings and of their substantial capacity to be self-determining 

 person/client-centred therapy: provides a supportive environment in which clients can re-establish their true identity; relies on clients’ 
capacity for self-direction, empathy, and acceptance to promote clients’ development 

 existential therapy: focuses on how the client has answered life’s questions in the past, but attention ultimately emphasizes the choices to be 
made in the present and future and enabling a new freedom and responsibility to act 

 gestalt therapy: focuses on the skills and techniques that permit an individual to be more aware of their feelings; focuses on the here and now 

 cognitive psychology: the study of mental processes such as attention, memory, perception, language use, problem solving, creativity, and 
thinking 

 cognitive behaviour therapy (CBT): focuses on helping individuals challenge their patterns and beliefs and replace erroneous thinking 

 attention: a state of focused awareness on a subset of the available perceptual information 

 procedural memory: memory for the performance of particular types of action, is often activated on a subconscious level, or at most requires 
a minimal amount of conscious effort (e.g., driving to work along the same route) 

 semantic memory: the encyclopedic knowledge that a person possesses, such as what the Eiffel Tower looks like, or the name of a friend 
from Grade 6 

 episodic memory: memory of autobiographical events that can be explicitly stated, contains all memories that are temporal in nature, such as 
when you last brushed your teeth, or where you were when you heard about a major news event 

 metacognition: involves conscious thought about thought processes  

 evolutionary psychology: seeks to develop and understand ways of expanding the emotional connection between individuals and the natural 
world 
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 basic research: research that answers fundamental questions about behaviour 

 applied research: research that investigates issues that have implications for everyday life and provides solutions to everyday problems 

 empirical: based on systematic collection and analysis of data 

 scientific method: the set of assumptions, rules, and procedures scientists use to conduct research 

 objective: free from the personal bias or emotions of the scientist 

 replicate: the ability to repeat, add to, or modify previous research findings 

 laws: principles that are so general as to apply to all situations in a given domain of inquiry 

 theory: an integrated set of principles that explains and predicts many, but not all, observed relationships within a given domain of inquiry 

 research hypothesis: a specific and falsifiable prediction about the relationship between or among two or more variables 

 operational definition: a precise statement of how a conceptual variable is turned into a measured variable 

 Ethical Review Board (ERB): a committee of at least five members whose goal it is to determine the cost-benefit ratio of research conducted 
within an institution 

 research design: the specific method a researcher uses to collect, analyze, and interpret data  

 descriptive research: research designed to provide a snapshot of the current state of affairs 

 correlational research: research designed to discover relationships among variables and to allow the prediction of future events from present 
knowledge 

 experimental research: research in which initial equivalence among research participants in more than one group is created, followed by a 
manipulation of a given experience for these groups and a measurement of the influence of the manipulation 

 case studies: descriptive records of one or more individual’s experiences and behaviour 

 survey: a measure administered through either an interview or a written questionnaire to get a picture of the beliefs or behaviours of a sample 
of people of interest 

 naturalistic observation: research based on the observation of everyday events 

 correlational research: involves the measurement of two or more relevant variables and an assessment of the relationship between or 
among those variables 

 independent variable: the causing variable that is created (manipulated) by the experimenter 

 dependent variable: a measured variable that is expected to be influenced by the experimental manipulation  

 valid: the conclusions drawn by the researcher are legitimate 

 construct validity: refers to the extent to which the variables used in the research adequately assess the conceptual variables they were 
designed to measure. 

 reliability: refers to the consistency of a measured variable 

 statistical significance: refers to the confidence with which a scientist can conclude that data are not due to chance or random error 

 statistical conclusion validity: refers to the extent to which we can be certain that the researcher has drawn accurate conclusions about the 
statistical significance of the research 

 internal validity: refers to the extent to which we can trust the conclusions that have been drawn about the causal relationship between the 
independent and dependent variables  

 experimenter bias: a situation in which the experimenter subtly treats the research participants in the various experimental conditions 
differently, resulting in an invalid confirmation of the research hypothesis 
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 blind to condition: although the experimenters know the research hypotheses, they do not know which conditions the participants are 
assigned to 

 double-blind experiment: both the researcher and the research participants are blind to condition 

 generalization: refers to the extent to which relationships among conceptual variables can be demonstrated in a wide variety of people and a 
wide variety of manipulated or measured variables 

 replication: the process of repeating previous research 

 meta-analysis: is a statistical technique that uses the results of existing studies to integrate and draw conclusions about those studies 

 nervous system: a collection of hundreds of billions of specialized and interconnected cells through which messages are sent between the 
brain and the rest of the body 

 central nervous system (CNS): made up of the brain and the spinal cord 

 peripheral nervous system (PNS): the neurons that link the CNS to our skin, muscles, and glands 

 endocrine system: the chemical regulator of the body that consists of glands that secrete hormones 

 neuron: a cell in the nervous system whose function it is to receive and transmit information  

 soma: a cell body which contains the nucleus of the cell and keeps the cell alive 

 dendrite: a branching treelike fibre which collects information from other cells and sends the information to the soma 

 axon: a long, segmented fibre which transmits information away from the cell body toward other neurons or to the muscles and glands 

 myelin sheath: a layer of fatty tissue surrounding the axon of a neuron that both acts as an insulator and allows faster transmission of the 
electrical signal 

 synapses: areas where the terminal buttons at the end of the axon of one neuron nearly, but don’t quite, touch the dendrites of another 

 neurotransmitter: a chemical that relays signals across the synapses between neurons 

 brain stem: the oldest and innermost region of the brain; designed to control the most basic functions of life, including breathing, attention, 
and motor responses  

 medulla: the area of the brain stem that controls heart rate and breathing 

 pons: a structure in the brain stem that helps control the movements of the body, playing a particularly important role in balance and walking  

 thalamus: the egg-shaped structure above the brain stem that applies still more filtering to the sensory information that is coming up from the 
spinal cord and through the reticular formation, and it relays some of these remaining signals to the higher brain levels 

 cerebellum: (literally, “little brain”) consists of two wrinkled ovals behind the brain stem; it functions to coordinate voluntary movement 

 limbic system: a brain area, located between the brain stem and the two cerebral hemispheres, that governs emotion and memory 

 amygdala: consists of two “almond-shaped” clusters (amygdala comes from the Latin word for “almond”) and is primarily responsible for 
regulating our perceptions of, and reactions to, aggression and fear 

 hypothalamus: a brain structure that contains a number of small areas that perform a variety of functions, including the regulation of hunger 
and sexual behaviour, as well as linking the nervous system to the endocrine system via the pituitary gland 

 hippocampus: consists of two “horns” that curve back from the amygdala 

 cerebral cortex: the outer bark-like layer of our brain that allows us to so successfully use language, acquire complex skills, create tools, and 
live in social groups 

 glial cells: cells that surround and link to the neurons, protecting them, providing them with nutrients, and absorbing unused neurotransmitters 

 frontal lobe: (behind the forehead), which is responsible primarily for thinking, planning, memory, and judgment 

 parietal lobe: responsible primarily for processing information about touch 
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 occipital lobe: processes visual information 

 temporal lobe: responsible primarily for hearing and language 

 neuroplasticity: refers to the brain’s ability to change its structure and function in response to experience or damage 

 neurogenesis: the forming of new neurons 

 lesions: damages in the brain 

 electroencephalography (EEG): a technique that records the electrical activity produced by the brain’s neurons through the use of electrodes 
that are placed around the research participant’s head 

 functional magnetic resonance imaging (fMRI):  a type of brain scan that uses a magnetic field to create images of brain activity in each 
brain area 

 transcranial magnetic stimulation (TMS): a procedure in which magnetic pulses are applied to the brain of a living person with the goal of 
temporarily and safely deactivating a small brain region 

 Nerves: bundles of interconnected neurons that fire in synchrony to carry messages 

 central nervous system (CNS): made up of the brain and spinal cord, is the major controller of the body’s functions, charged with interpreting 
sensory information and responding to it with its own directives 

 spinal cord: the long, thin, tubular bundle of nerves and supporting cells that extends down from the brain 

 reflex: an involuntary and nearly instantaneous movement in response to a stimulus  

 peripheral nervous system (PNS): links the CNS to the body’s sense receptors, muscles, and glands 

 autonomic nervous system (ANS): the division of the PNS that governs the internal activities of the human body, including heart rate, 
breathing, digestion, salivation, perspiration, urination, and sexual arousal 

 somatic nervous system (SNS): the division of the PNS that controls the external aspects of the body 

 gland: groups of cells that function to secrete hormones 

 hormone: a chemical that moves throughout the body to help regulate emotions and behaviours 

 sensation: awareness resulting from the stimulation of a sense organ  

 perception: the organization and interpretation of sensations 

 six senses: seeing, hearing, smelling, touching, tasting, and monitoring the body’s positions 

 transduction: the conversion of stimuli detected by receptor cells to electrical impulses that are then transported to the brain 

 psychophysics is the branch of psychology that studies the effects of physical stimuli on sensory perceptions and mental states 

 absolute threshold of a sensation: the intensity of a stimulus that allows an organism to just barely detect it 

 signal detection analysis: a technique used to determine the ability of the perceiver to separate true signals from background noise 

 sensitivity: refers to the true ability of the individual to detect the presence or absence of signals 

 response bias: refers to a behavioural tendency to respond “yes” to the trials, which is independent of sensitivity 

 difference threshold: refers to the change in a stimulus that can just barely be detected by the organism 

 Weber’s law: maintains that the just noticeable difference of a stimulus is a constant proportion of the original intensity of the stimulus 

 blindsight: a condition in which people are unable to consciously report on visual stimuli but nevertheless are able to accurately answer 
questions about what they are seeing 

 electromagnetic energy: pulses of energy waves that can carry information from place to place 

 wavelength: the distance between one wave peak and the next wave peak our eyes detect only the range from about 400 to 700 billionths of 
a meter 
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 visual accommodation: the process of changing the curvature of the lens to keep the light entering the eye focused on the retina  

 feature detector neurons: specialized neurons, located in the visual cortex, that respond to the strength, angles, shapes, edges, and 
movements of a visual stimulus 

 gestalt: a meaningfully organized whole 

 beta effect: refers to the perception of motion that occurs when different images are presented next to each other in succession 

 phi phenomenon: when we perceive a sensation of motion caused by the appearance and disappearance of objects that are near each other 

 frequency: the number of waves that arrive per second  

 pitch: the perceived frequency of a sound 

 amplitude: height of the sound wave 

 loudness: the degree of sound volume 

 decibel: the unit of relative loudness 

 taste buds: designed to sense chemicals in the mouth 

 olfactory membrane: the upper nasal passage  

 olfactory receptor cells: contain tentacle-like protrusions that contain receptor proteins 

 proprioception: the ability to sense the position and movement of our body parts 

 vestibular system: a set of liquid-filled areas in the inner ear that monitors the head’s position and movement, maintaining the body’s balance 

 gate control theory of pain: proposes that pain is determined by the operation of two types of nerve fibres in the spinal cord 

 sensory interaction: the working together of different senses to create experience 

 McGurk effect: an error in perception that occurs when we misperceive sounds because the audio and visual parts of the speech are 
mismatched  

 synesthesia: an experience in which one sensation (e.g., hearing a sound) creates experiences in another (e.g., vision)  

 selective attention: the ability to focus on some sensory inputs while tuning out others 

 sensory adaptation: a decreased sensitivity to a stimulus after prolonged and constant exposure 

 perceptual constancy: the ability to perceive a stimulus as constant despite changes in sensation 

 illusions: occur when the perceptual processes that normally help us correctly perceive the world around us are fooled by a particular 
situation so that we see something that does not exist or that is incorrect  

 Mueller-Lyer illusion: an illusion where the line segment in the bottom arrow looks longer to us than the one on the top, even though they are 
both actually the same length 

 moon illusion: refers to the fact that the moon is perceived to be about 50% larger when it is near the horizon than when it is seen overhead, 
despite the fact that in both cases the moon is the same size 

 human factors: the field of psychology that uses psychological knowledge, including the principles of sensation and perception, to improve 
the development of technology 

 consciousness: our subjective awareness of ourselves and our environment 

 dualism: the idea that the mind, a nonmaterial entity, is separate from (although connected to) the physical body 

 biological rhythms: regularly occurring cycles of behaviour 

 seasonal affective disorder (SAD): depression during the dark winter months rather than during the lighter summer months 

 rapid eye movement (REM): a sleep stage characterized by the presence of quick eye movements and dreaming 

 non-rapid eye movement (non-REM): a deep sleep, characterized by very slow brainwaves 
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 insomnia: persistent difficulty falling or staying asleep 

 sleep apnea: a sleep disorder characterized by pauses in breathing that last at least 10 seconds during sleep 

 narcolepsy: a disorder characterized by extreme daytime sleepiness with frequent episodes of nodding off 

 somnambulism: (sleepwalking); the person leaves the bed and moves around while still asleep 

 sleep terrors: a disruptive sleep disorder, most frequently experienced in childhood, that may involve loud screams and intense panic 

 dreams: the succession of images, thoughts, sounds, and emotions that passes through our minds while sleeping 

 wish fulfilment: the idea that dreaming allows us to act out the desires that we must repress during the day  

 activation-synthesis theory of dreaming: the idea that dreams are our brain’s interpretation of the random firing of neurons in the brain stem 

 psychoactive drug: a chemical that changes our states of consciousness, and particularly our perceptions and moods 

 tolerance: an increase in the dose of a drug required to produce the same effect 

 dependence: a need to use a drug or other substance regularly  

 withdrawal: negative experiences that accompany reducing or stopping drug use, including physical pain and other symptoms; when the user 
powerfully craves the drug and is driven to seek it out, over and over again, no matter what the physical, social, financial, and legal cost 

 safety ratio: the dose that is likely to be fatal divided by the normal dose needed to feel the effects of the drug 

 stimulant: a psychoactive drug that operates by blocking the reuptake of dopamine, norepinephrine, and serotonin in the synapses of the 
CNS 

 caffeine: a bitter psychoactive drug found in the beans, leaves, and fruits of plants 

 nicotine: a psychoactive drug found in tobacco and other members of the nightshade family of plants, where it acts as a natural pesticide 

 cocaine an addictive drug obtained from the leaves of the coca plant 

 amphetamine: a stimulant that produces increased wakefulness and focus, along with decreased fatigue and appetite 

 depressant: a psychoactive drug that reduces the activity of the CNS 

 alcohol: a colorless liquid, produced by the fermentation of sugar or starch, that is the intoxicating agent in fermented drinks 

 barbiturates: depressants that are commonly prescribed as sleeping pills and painkillers 

 benzodiazepines: a family of depressants used to treat anxiety, insomnia, seizures, and muscle spasms 

 toxic inhalants: depressants that are inhaled to create a change in consciousness 

 opioids: chemicals that increase activity in opioid receptor neurons in the brain and in the digestive system, producing euphoria, analgesia, 
slower breathing, and constipation 

 opium: the dried juice of the unripe seed capsule of the opium poppy 

 hallucinogens: psychoactive drugs that alter sensation and perception and that may create hallucinations 

 hypnosis: a trancelike state of consciousness, usually induced by a procedure known as hypnotic induction, which consists of heightened 
suggestibility, deep relaxation, and intense focus 

 sensory deprivation: the intentional reduction of stimuli affecting one or more of the five senses, with the possibility of resulting changes in 
consciousness 

 meditation: refers to techniques in which the individual focuses on something specific, such as an object, a word, or one’s breathing, with the 
goal of ignoring external distractions, focusing on one’s internal state, and achieving a state of relaxation and well-being 

 development: the physiological, behavioural, cognitive, and social changes that occur throughout human life, which are guided by both 
genetic predispositions (nature) and by environmental influences (nurture) 

 infancy: the developmental stage that begins at birth and continues to one year of age 
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 childhood: the period between infancy and the onset of puberty 

 adolescence: the years between the onset of puberty and the beginning of adulthood 

 adulthood: the years  between emerging, early, middle, and older adulthood and the preparations for and eventual facing of death 

 conception: occurs when an egg from the mother is fertilized by a sperm from the father 

 ovulation: when an ovum, or egg (the largest cell in the human body), which has been stored in one of the mother’s two ovaries, matures and 
is released into the fallopian tube 

 zygote: a fertilized ovum 

 embryo: when the zygote attaches to the wall of the uterus 

 amniotic sac: the fluid-filled reservoir in which the embryo (soon to be known as a fetus) will live until birth, and which acts as both a cushion 
against outside pressure and as a temperature regulator 

 placenta: an organ that allows the exchange of nutrients between the embryo and the mother, while at the same time filtering out harmful 
material 

 umbilical cord: links the embryo directly to the placenta and transfers all material to the fetus  

 teratogens: substances that can harm the fetus 

 fetal alcohol syndrome (FAS): a condition caused by maternal alcohol drinking that can lead to numerous detrimental developmental effects, 
including limb and facial abnormalities, genital anomalies, and mental retardation 

 schemas: patterns of knowledge in long term memory — that help individuals to remember, organize, and respond to information 

 assimilation: the use already developed schemas to understand new information 

 accommodation: involves learning new information and thus changing the schema 

 sensorimotor stage: the cognitive stage that begins at birth and lasts until around the age of two; defined by the direct physical interactions 
that babies have with the objects around them 

 object permanence: refers to the child’s ability to know that an object exists even when the object cannot be perceived 

 preoperational stage: during this stage, children begin to use language and to think more abstractly about objects, with capacity to form 
mental images; however, their understanding is more intuitive and they lack much ability to deduce or reason 

 egocentric: unable to readily see and understand other people’s viewpoints 

 theory of mind: the ability to take another person’s viewpoint 

 concrete operational stage: marked by more frequent and more accurate use of transitions, operations, and abstract concepts, 
 including those of time, space, and numbers 

 formal operational stage: marked by the ability to think in abstract terms and to use scientific and philosophical lines of thought 

 sociocultural theory: believes that cognitive development is not isolated entirely within the child but occurs at least in part through social 
interactions 

 community learning: when children serve as both teachers and learners 

 self-concept: a knowledge representation or schema that contains knowledge about us, including our beliefs about our personality traits, 
physical characteristics, abilities, values, goals, and roles 

 social comparison: the knowledge that we exist as individuals allows us to make comparisons with other children 

 attachment: the emotional bonds that we develop with those with whom we feel closest, and particularly the bonds that an infant develops 
with the mother or primary caregiver 

 temperament: the innate personality characteristics of the infant 



 BAA Course ~ Psychology 11  

Content – Elaborations  

 puberty: developmental period in which hormonal changes cause rapid physical alterations in the body, culminating in sexual maturity 

 morality: standards of behaviour that are generally agreed on within a culture to be right or proper 

 early adulthood: roughly the ages between 25 and 45  

 middle adulthood: roughly the ages between 45 and 65 

 social clock: refers to the culturally preferred “right time” for major life events, such as moving out of the childhood house, getting married, 
and having children 

 late adulthood: the final life stage, beginning in the 60s 

 crystallized intelligence: general knowledge about the world, as reflected in semantic knowledge, vocabulary, and language 

 fluid intelligence: the ability to think and acquire information quickly and abstractly 

 dementia: a progressive neurological disease that includes loss of cognitive abilities significant enough to interfere with everyday behaviours 

 Alzheimer’s disease: a form of dementia that, over a period of years, leads to a loss of emotions, cognitions, and physical functioning, and 
that is ultimately fatal 

 
Recommended Instructional Components: 

 Online and blended instruction 

 Inquiry/project based learning 

 Reader/viewer responses 

 Reflective writing 

 

Recommended Assessment Components: Ensure alignment with the Principles of Quality Assessment 

 Learning Guides 

 Self-assessments 

 Inquiry/Project Based Activities 

 Quizzes  

 Final Project 

 

Learning Resources: 

There is no physical textbook for this course. The material in each section of the course is taken from Introduction to Psychology – 1st Canadian 
Edition by Charles Stangor and Jennifer Walinga.   
 
There is a Student Resource section in the course for students to access some common resources for the course: APA Essay Formatting and 
the entire textbook online.  

https://curriculum.gov.bc.ca/assessment-info
https://opentextbc.ca/introductiontopsychology/
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Additional Information: 

None 



 
 

 
  

2019-2020  
Financial Statement Discussion & Analysis 
 
Prepared by Steve Hopkins 
 
www.sd47.bc.ca 
4351 Ontario Avenue 
Powell River, BC V8A 1V3 
 

The information here is intended to provide a brief overview of the 
years financial statements. The statements themselves are 

organized into statements, notes and schedules. Schedule 2 
documents provide information related to the operating fund. 

Schedule 3 the Special Purpose Funds and 4 the Capital. 
 

This summary is focused on the operating spending while 
highlighting other aspects of the operations. 

 

Salaries 
Teachers      10,235,792 
Principals and Vice Principals       1,711,122 
Educational Assistants       2,079,263 
Support Staff       2,206,047 
Other Professionals      1,224,681 
Substitutes           851,842 
Total Salaries                   18,308,747 
 
Employee Benefits                4,239,053 
Total Salary and Benefits                 22,547,800 
 
Services and Supplies 
Services       2,008,414 
Student Transportation                     6,391 
Professional development and Travel           298,562 
Rentals and Leases          225,397 
Dues and Fees              371,245 
Insurance              74,139 
Supplies       2,748,164 
Utilities               556,676 
Total Service and Supplies                        6,288,988 

 

Total Operating Expense       28,836,788 
 

Operational Spending ($) 
 
 

Special Purpose 
Fund Summary 
 

These funds are all independent of one another, 
each fund has specific criteria regarding the nature 
of the spending with most governed by contracts 
that layout the various deliverables associated with 
each. 
 
School Generated Funds – Represent money 
flowing through schools outside of the accounting 
system and consolidated for the purpose of 
financial statement presentation.  
 
Examples: Terry Fox Donations, Jump Rope for 
Heart, Field Trips, Merchandise Sales, etc. 
 
Total Revenue and Spending of approximately $1.2 
million dollars 
 
Classroom enhancement Fund - $ 2.2 million for 
approximately 18 additional teachers intended to 
reduce class sizes and provide for additional 
ancillary supports such as learning assistance and 
counselling. 
 
Auditory Outreach Program - $ 1.3 million dollars 
managed by the Powell River School Board on 
behalf of the provincial education system in 
support of children with auditory issues.  
 

http://www.sd47.bc.ca/


 
 

 

Operating Funding 
(thousands) 

 
Ministry of Education   $ 27,484 
Other Provincial Grants             101 
Tuition          1,062  
Other Revenue                         1,284 
Rental Income             218 
Interest                                48
                                         $30,197 
 
 

Student Enrollment (FTE) 
 
Standard      1,853 
Continuing Ed & Alternate           72 
Distributed Learning         563 
      2,488 
 

Regular Staffing (FTE)  
 170 Educators 

   95 Support Staff 

    18 Other Staff 
 

Capital Fund Summary 
 

School Enhancement (SEP) $720,000 
Carbon Neutral (CNCP)    $15,000 
Annual Facility Grant (AFG) $481,348  
Local Capital     $32,325 
 

 
Internally Restricted (appropriated) by Board for:    2020 
School & Program Based Resources: 

Technology Initiatives 
Dual Credit Course Fees 
Student Achievement Initiatives 
School Resources Carried Forward 
Contingency Fund                                        

 
$161,393 
195,000 
299,138 
122,117 
275,000 

    
 
Subtotal Internally Restricted Operating Surplus 

   
1,052,648 

  
Unrestricted Operating Surplus  

 
Local Capital: 
Replacement Fund for Artificial Playfield  
Ongoing Investment into OLC 
Equipment Replacement Fund  
 

   970,515 
               

 
375,000 
169,205 

75,000 
619,205 

 
 

Funds Available for Future Operations 
 

Total Revenue 
$30,197 

 

Accumulated 
Surplus 
$2,023 

 
 

Total Spending 
$28,837 
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Independent Auditor’s Report 
 
To the Board of Education of School District No. 47 (Powell River) and the Minister of Education: 

 
Opinion 
We have audited the financial statements of School District No. 47 (Powell River) (the “School District”), 
which comprise the statement of financial position as at June 30, 2020, and the statements of operations, 
remeasurement gains and losses, changes in net financial debt and cash flows for the year then ended, and 
notes to the financial statements, including a summary of significant accounting policies. 
 
In our opinion, the financial statements present the financial position of the School District as at June 30, 2020 
and the results of its operations, remeasurement gains and losses, changes in net debt and its cash flows for 
the year then ended in compliance with, in all material respects, the financial reporting framework based on 
Section 23.1 of the Budget Transparency and Accountability Act and the Province of British Columbia’s 
Treasury Board Regulations 257/2010 and 198/2011. 
 

Basis for Opinion 
We conducted our audit in accordance with Canadian generally accepted auditing standards. Our 
responsibilities under those standards are further described in the Auditor’s Responsibilities for the Audit of the 
financial statements section of our report. We are independent of the School District in accordance with the 
ethical requirements that are relevant to our audit of the financial statements in Canada, and we have fulfilled 
our other ethical responsibilities in accordance with these requirements. We believe that the audit evidence we 
have obtained is sufficient and appropriate to provide a basis for opinion.  
 

Emphasis of Matter 
We draw attention to Note 2 which describes the financial reporting framework being followed by School District 
No. 47 (Powell River). 
 

Other Information 
Management is responsible for the other information. The other information obtained at the date of this auditor’s 
report comprises of Unaudited Schedules 1-4 attached to the audited financial statements and Financial 
Statement Discussion and Analysis, but does not include the financial statements and our auditor’s report 
thereon. 

Our opinion on the financial statements does not cover the other information and we will not express any form of 
assurance conclusion thereon. 

In connection with our audit of the financial statements, our responsibility is to read the other and, in doing so, 
consider whether the other information is materially inconsistent with the financial statements or our knowledge 
obtained in the audit or otherwise appears to be materially misstated.  

If, based on the work we have performed on the other information obtained prior to the date of this auditor’s 
report, we conclude that there is a material misstatement of this other information, we are required to report that 
fact. We have nothing to report in this regard. 

Responsibilities of Management and Those Charged with Governance for the Financial Statements 
Management is responsible for the preparation and presentation of these financial statements in accordance 
with the financial reporting framework based on Section 23.1 of the Budget Transparency and Accountability Act 
and the Province of British Columbia’s Treasury Board Regulations 257/2010 and 198/2011, and for such 
internal control as management determines is necessary to enable the preparation of financial statements that 
are free from material misstatement, whether due to fraud or error. 
 
In preparing the financial statements, management is responsible for assessing the School District’s ability to 
continue as a going concern, disclosing as applicable, matters related to going concern and using the going 
concern basis of accounting unless management intends to liquidate the School District or to cease operations, 
or has no realistic alternative but to do so.  
 
Those charged with governance are responsible for overseeing the School District’s financial reporting process.  
 

 

201-990 Cedar Street, Campbell River, British Columbia, V9W 7Z8, Phone: (250) 287-2131 
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Auditors' Responsibilities for the Audit of the Financial Statements 
Our objectives are to obtain reasonable assurance about whether the financial statements as a whole are free 
from material misstatement, whether due to fraud or error, and to issue an auditor’s report that includes our 
opinion. Reasonable assurance is a high level of assurance, but is not a guarantee that an audit conducted in 
accordance with Canadian generally accepted auditing standards will always detect a material misstatement 
when it exists. Misstatements can arise from fraud or error and are considered material if, individually or in the 
aggregate, they could reasonably be expected to influence the economic decisions of users taken on the basis 
of these financial statements.  
 
 
As part of an audit in accordance with Canadian generally accepted auditing standards, we exercise 
professional judgement and maintain professional skepticism throughout the audit. We also:  
 

 Identify and assess the risks of material misstatement of the financial statements, whether due to fraud 
or error, design and perform audit procedures responsive to those risks, and obtain audit evidence that 
is sufficient and appropriate to provide a basis for opinion. The risk of not detecting a material 
misstatement resulting from fraud is higher than for one resulting from error, as fraud may involve 
collusion, forgery, intentional omissions, misrepresentations, or the override of internal control.  

 Obtain an understanding of internal control relevant to the audit in order to design audit procedures that 
are appropriate in the circumstances, but not for the purpose of expressing an opinion on the 
effectiveness of the School District’s internal control 

 Evaluate the appropriateness of accounting policies used and the reasonableness of accounting 
estimates and related disclosures made by management.  

 Conclude on the appropriateness of management's use of the going concern basis of accounting and, 
based on the audit evidence obtained, whether a material uncertainty exists related to events or 
conditions that may cast significant doubt on the School District’s ability to continue as a going concern. 
If we conclude that a material uncertainty exists, we are required to draw attention in our auditor's report 
to the related disclosures in the financial statements or, if such disclosures are inadequate, to modify our 
opinion. Our conclusions are based on the audit evidence obtained up to the date of our auditor's report. 
However, future events or conditions may cause the School District to cease to continue as a going 
concern. 

 Evaluate the overall presentation, structure and content of the financial statements, including the 
disclosures, and whether the financial statements represent the underlying transactions and events in a 
manner that achieves fair presentation. 

 
We communicate with those charged with governance regarding, among other matters, the planned scope and 
timing of the audit and significant audit findings, including any significant deficiencies in internal control that we 
identify during our audit. 
 
 
 
September 23, 2020 
  
 
Campbell River, BC Chartered Professional Accountants 
 
 
 
 
 
 

Tammy.McQuay
Text Box






Statement 2

2020 2020 2019

Budget Actual Actual

(Note 17)

$ $ $

Revenues

Provincial Grants

Ministry of Education 31,078,149          31,807,678          27,576,811          

Other 75,000                101,100               114,100               

Tuition 909,750               1,062,276            950,616               

Other Revenue 2,733,900            2,593,422            3,105,194            

Rentals and Leases 223,500               217,446               253,207               

Investment Income 54,000                52,239                74,506                

Amortization of Deferred Capital Revenue 1,599,999            1,599,999            1,566,007            

Total Revenue 36,674,298          37,434,160          33,640,441          

Expenses

Instruction 29,322,369          28,813,537          26,868,124          

District Administration 1,394,732            1,227,502            1,064,306            

Operations and Maintenance 5,226,684            5,246,843            5,036,111            

Transportation and Housing 1,079,615            1,110,605            1,074,226            

Total Expense 37,023,400          36,398,487          34,042,767          

Surplus (Deficit) for the year (349,102)             1,035,673            (402,326)             

Accumulated Surplus (Deficit) from Operations, beginning of year 10,867,553          11,269,879          

Accumulated Surplus (Deficit) from Operations, end of year 11,903,226          10,867,553          

School District No. 47 (Powell River)
Statement of Operations

Year Ended June 30, 2020

The accompanying notes are an integral part of these financial statements.
Version: 6883-6138-4155

 September 24, 2020  12:25 Page 4



Statement 4

2020 2020 2019

Budget Actual Actual

(Note 17)

$ $ $

Surplus (Deficit) for the year (349,102)             1,035,673            (402,326)             

Effect of change in Tangible Capital Assets

Acquisition of Tangible Capital Assets (1,248,673)          (1,191,231)          

Amortization of Tangible Capital Assets 1,928,693            1,928,693            1,888,436            

Total Effect of change in Tangible Capital Assets 1,928,693            680,020               697,205               

Acquisition of Prepaid Expenses (64,950)               

Use of Prepaid Expenses 137,029               

Total Effect of change in Other Non-Financial Assets -                          137,029               (64,950)               

(Increase) Decrease in Net Debt, before Net Remeasurement Gains (Losses) 1,579,591            1,852,722            229,929               

Net Remeasurement Gains (Losses)

(Increase) Decrease in Net Debt 1,852,722            229,929               

Net Debt, beginning of year (36,798,952)        (37,028,881)        

Net Debt, end of year (34,946,230)        (36,798,952)        

School District No. 47 (Powell River)
Statement of Changes in Net Debt

Year Ended June 30, 2020

The accompanying notes are an integral part of these financial statements.
Version: 6883-6138-4155
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Statement 5

2020 2019

Actual Actual

$ $

Operating Transactions

Surplus (Deficit) for the year 1,035,673          (402,326)            

Changes in Non-Cash Working Capital

Decrease (Increase)

Accounts Receivable 69,279               (30,806)              

Prepaid Expenses 137,029             (64,950)              

Increase (Decrease)

Accounts Payable and Accrued Liabilities 502,089             144,799             

Unearned Revenue (311,288)            (568,279)            

Deferred Revenue 415,231             (15,171)              

Employee Future Benefits 93,071               63,815               

Amortization of Tangible Capital Assets 1,928,693          1,888,436          

Amortization of Deferred Capital Revenue (1,599,999)         (1,566,007)         

Total Operating Transactions 2,269,778          (550,489)            

Capital Transactions

Tangible Capital Assets Purchased (1,248,673)         (1,191,231)         

Total Capital Transactions (1,248,673)         (1,191,231)         

Financing Transactions

Capital Revenue Received 1,216,348          974,881             

Total Financing Transactions 1,216,348          974,881             

Net Increase (Decrease) in Cash and Cash Equivalents 2,237,453          (766,839)            

Cash and Cash Equivalents, beginning of year 4,183,463          4,950,302          

Cash and Cash Equivalents, end of year 6,420,916          4,183,463          

Cash and Cash Equivalents, end of year, is made up of:

Cash 6,420,916          4,183,463          

6,420,916          4,183,463          

School District No. 47 (Powell River)
Statement of Cash Flows

Year Ended June 30, 2020

The accompanying notes are an integral part of these financial statements.
Version: 6883-6138-4155
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 Page 7 of 27 June 2020 

NOTE 1 AUTHORITY AND PURPOSE 
   

 
The School District, operates under authority of the School Act of British Columbia as a corporation 
under the name of "The Board of Education of School District No. 47 (Powell River)", and operates 
as "School District No. 47 (Powell River)."  A board of education (“Board”) elected for a four-year 
term governs the School District.  The School District provides educational programs to students 
enrolled in schools in the district, and is principally funded by the Province of British Columbia 
through the Ministry of Education. School District No. 47 (Powell River) is exempt from federal 
and provincial corporate income taxes. 
 
The COVID-19 outbreak was declared a pandemic by the World Health Organization in March 
2020 and has had a significant financial, market and social dislocating impact worldwide.  Under 
direction of the Provincial Health Officer, all schools suspended in-class instruction in March 2020 
and the District remained open to continue to support students and families in a variety of ways.  
Parents were given the choice to send their children back to school on a gradual and part-time basis 
beginning June 1 with new health and safety guidelines.  The ongoing impact of the pandemic 
present’s uncertainty over future cash flows, may have a significant impact on future operations 
including decreases in revenue, impairment of receivables, reductions in investment income and 
delays in completing capital project work.  As the situation is dynamic and the ultimate duration and 
magnitude of the impact are not known, an estimate of the future financial effect on the District is 
not practicable at this time. 
 
 
NOTE 2 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES  
 
a) Basis of Accounting  

 
These financial statements have been prepared in accordance with Section 23.1 of the Budget 
Transparency and Accountability Act of the Province of British Columbia. This Section requires 
that the financial statements be prepared in accordance with Canadian public sector accounting 
standards except in regard to the accounting for government transfers as set out in Notes 2(e) 
and 2(l).  
 
In November 2011, Treasury Board provided a directive through Restricted Contributions 
Regulation 198/2011 providing direction for the reporting of restricted contributions whether 
they are received or receivable by the School District before or after this regulation was in 
effect.  
 
As noted in notes 2(e) and 2(l), Section 23.1 of the Budget Transparency and Accountability Act 
and its related regulations require the School District to recognize government transfers for the 
acquisition of capital assets into revenue on the same basis as the related amortization expense.  
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NOTE 2 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued) 
 

a) Basis of Accounting (cont’d) 
 

As these transfers do not contain stipulations that create a liability, Canadian public sector 
accounting standards would require that: 
 

 government transfers, which do not contain a stipulation that creates a liability, be 
recognized as revenue by the recipient when approved by the transferor and the 
eligibility criteria have been met in accordance with public sector accounting standard 
PS3410; and 

 
 externally restricted contributions be recognized as revenue in the period in which the 

resources are used for the purpose or purposes specified in accordance with public sector 
accounting standard PS3100. 

 
The impact of this difference on the financial statements of the School District is as follows: 
 
Year-ended June 30, 2019 – decrease in annual surplus by $591,126 
June 30, 2019 – increase in accumulated surplus and decrease in deferred contributions by 
$37,887,922 
Year-ended June 30, 2020 – increase in annual surplus by $383,651 
June 30, 2020 – increase in accumulated surplus and decrease in deferred contributions by 
$37,504,271 

 
b) Cash and Cash Equivalents 

 
Cash and cash equivalents include cash and highly liquid securities that are readily convertible 
to known amounts of cash and that are subject to an insignificant risk of change in value.  These 
cash equivalents generally have a maturity of three months or less at acquisition and are held for 
the purpose of meeting short-term cash commitments rather than for investing. 
 

c) Accounts Receivable 
 
 Accounts receivable are measured at amortized cost and shown net of allowance for doubtful 

accounts. 
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NOTE 2 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued) 
 
d) Unearned Revenue 

 
Unearned revenue includes tuition fees received for courses to be delivered in future periods and 
receipt of proceeds for services or products to be delivered in a future period. Revenue will be 
recognized in that future period when the courses, services, or products are provided. 

 
e) Deferred Revenue and Deferred Capital Revenue 

 
Deferred revenue includes contributions received with stipulations that meet the description of 
restricted contributions in the Restricted Contributions Regulation 198/2011 issued by Treasury 
Board. When restrictions are met, deferred revenue is recognized as revenue in the fiscal year in 
a manner consistent with the circumstances and evidence used to support the initial recognition 
of the contributions received as a liability as detailed in Note 2 (l). 

 
Funding received for the acquisition of depreciable tangible capital assets is recorded as deferred 
capital revenue and amortized over the life of the asset acquired as revenue in the statement of 
operations.  This accounting treatment is not consistent with the requirements of Canadian 
public sector accounting standards which require that government transfers be recognized as 
revenue when approved by the transferor and eligibility criteria have been met unless the 
transfer contains a stipulation that creates a liability in which case the transfer is recognized as 
revenue over the period that the liability is extinguished.  See note 2 (a) for the impact of this 
policy on these financial statements. 
 

f) Prepaid Expenses 
 
Insurance premiums, and software licensing and support, are included as a prepaid expense and 
stated at acquisition cost and are charged to expense over the periods expected to benefit from it.  

 
g) Funds and Reserves 

 
Certain amounts, as approved by the Board are set aside in accumulated surplus for future 
operating and capital purposes. Transfers to and from funds and reserves are an adjustment to 
the respective fund when approved (see Notes 13 – Interfund Transfers and Note 18 – 
Accumulated Surplus).  
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NOTE 2 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued) 
 
h) Employee Future Benefits 
 

The School District provides certain post-employment benefits including vested and non-vested 
benefits for certain employees pursuant to certain contracts and union agreements. The School 
District accrues its obligations and related costs including both vested and non-vested benefits 
under employee future benefit plans. Benefits include vested sick leave, accumulating non-
vested sick leave, early retirement, retirement/severance, vacation, overtime and death benefits. 
The benefits cost is actuarially determined using the projected unit credit method pro-rated on 
service and using management’s best estimate of expected salary escalation, termination rates, 
retirement rates and mortality. The discount rate used to measure obligations is based on the cost 
of borrowing. The cumulative unrecognized actuarial gains and losses are amortized over the 
expected average remaining service lifetime of active employees covered under the plan.   
 
The most recent valuation of the obligation was performed at March 31, 2019 and projected  
to March 31, 2022. The next valuation will be performed at March 31, 2022 for use at  
June 30, 2022. For the purposes of determining the financial position of the plans and the 
employee future benefit costs, a measurement date of March 31 was adopted for all periods 
subsequent to July 1, 2004. 
 
The School district and its employees make contributions to the Teachers’ Pension Plan and 
Municipal Pension Plan.  The plans are multi-employer plans where assets and obligations are 
not separated. The costs are expensed as incurred. 

 
 

i) Liability for Contaminated Sites  
 
Contaminated sites are a result of contamination being introduced into air, soil, water or 
sediment of a chemical, organic or radioactive material or live organism that exceeds an 
environmental standard.  The liability is recorded net of any expected recoveries. A liability for 
remediation of contaminated sites is recognized when a site is not in productive use and all the 
following criteria are met: 
 

 an environmental standard exists; 
 contamination exceeds the environmental standard; 
 the School District: 

o is directly responsible; or 
o accepts responsibility;  

 it is expected that future economic benefits will be given up; and 
 a reasonable estimate of the amount can be made. 
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NOTE 2 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued) 
 

i) Liability for Contaminated Sites (cont’d) 
 
The liability is recognized as management’s estimate of the cost of post-remediation including operation, 
maintenance and monitoring that are an integral part of the remediation strategy for a contaminated site. 
 

j) Measurement Uncertainty 
 

Preparation of financial statements in accordance with the basis of accounting described in note 
2 a) requires management to make estimates and assumptions that impact reported amounts of 
assets and liabilities at the date of the financial statements and revenues and expenses during the 
reporting periods. Significant areas requiring the use of management estimates relate to the 
potential impairment of assets, liabilities for contaminated sites, rates for amortization and 
estimated employee future benefits.  Actual results could differ from those estimates.  
 

k) Tangible Capital Assets 
 
The following criteria apply: 

 Tangible capital assets acquired or constructed are recorded at cost which includes 
amounts that are directly related to the acquisition, design, construction, development, 
improvement or betterment of the assets. Cost also includes overhead directly 
attributable to construction as well as interest costs that are directly attributable to the 
acquisition or construction of the asset. 

 Donated tangible capital assets are recorded at their fair market value on the date of 
donation, except in circumstances where fair value cannot be reasonably determined, 
which are then recognized at nominal value. Transfers of capital assets from related 
parties are recorded at carrying value.  

 Work-in-progress is recorded as an acquisition to the applicable asset class at substantial 
completion. 

 Tangible capital assets are written down to residual value when conditions indicate they 
no longer contribute to the ability of the School District to provide services or when the 
value of future economic benefits associated with the sites and buildings are less than 
their net book value. The write-downs are accounted for as expenses in the Statement of 
Operations. 

 Buildings that are demolished or destroyed are written-off. 
 Works of art, historic assets and other intangible assets are not recorded as assets in these 

financial statements. 
 The cost, less residual value, of tangible capital assets (excluding sites), is amortized on a 

straight-line basis over the estimated useful life of the asset. It is management’s 
responsibility to determine the appropriate useful lives for tangible capital assets. These 
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NOTE 2 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued) 
 

k) Tangible Capital Assets (cont’d) 
 
useful lives are reviewed on a regular basis or if significant events initiate the need to 
revise. Estimated useful life is as follows: 
 

Buildings 40 years 
Furniture & Equipment 10 years 
Vehicles 10 years 
Computer Software 5 years 
Computer Hardware 5 years 

 
l) Revenue Recognition 

 

Revenues are recorded on an accrual basis in the period in which the transactions or events 
occurred that gave rise to the revenues, the amounts are considered to be collectible and can be 
reasonably estimated. 

 
Contributions received or where eligibility criteria have been met are recognized as revenue 
except where the contribution meets the criteria for deferral as described below. Eligibility 
criteria are the criteria that the School District has to meet in order to receive the contributions 
including authorization by the transferring government. 
 
For contributions subject to a legislative or contractual stipulation or restriction as to their use, 
revenue is recognized as follows: 
 

 Non-capital contributions for specific purposes are recorded as deferred revenue and 
recognized as revenue in the year related expenses are incurred, 

 Contributions restricted for site acquisitions are recorded as revenue when the sites are 
purchased, and 

 Contributions restricted for tangible capital assets acquisitions other than sites are 
recorded as deferred capital revenue and amortized over the useful life of the related 
assets.  

 
Donated tangible capital assets other than sites are recorded at fair market value and amortized 
over the useful life of the assets. Donated sites are recorded as revenue at fair market value when 
received or receivable. 

 
The accounting treatment for restricted contributions is not consistent with the requirements of 
Canadian public sector accounting standards which require that government transfers be 
recognized as revenue when approved by the transferor and eligibility criteria have been met.  
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NOTE 2 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued) 
 

l) Revenue Recognition (cont’d) 
 
unless the transfer contains a stipulation that meets the criteria for liability recognition in which 
case the transfer is recognized as revenue over the period that the liability is extinguished.  See 
note 2(a) for the impact of this policy on these financial statements. 
 
Revenue related to fees or services received in advance of the fee being earned or the service is 
performed is deferred and recognized when the fee is earned or service performed. 
 
Investment income is reported in the period earned. When required by the funding party or 
related Act, investment income earned on deferred revenue is added to the deferred revenue 
balance. 
 

m) Expenditures 
 
Expenses are reported on an accrual basis. The cost of all goods consumed and services received 
during the year is expensed. 

 
 Categories of Salaries 

 Principals, Vice-Principals, and Directors of Instruction employed under an 
administrative officer contract are categorized as Principals and Vice-Principals. 

 Superintendents, Assistant Superintendents, Secretary-Treasurers, Trustees and other 
employees excluded from union contracts are categorized as Other Professionals. 

 
Allocation of Costs  

 Operating expenses are reported by function, program, and object. Whenever possible, 
expenditures are determined by actual identification. Additional costs pertaining to 
specific instructional programs, such as special and aboriginal education, are allocated to 
these programs. All other costs are allocated to related programs. 

 Actual salaries of personnel assigned to two or more functions or programs are allocated 
based on the time spent in each function and program.  School-based clerical salaries are 
allocated to school administration and partially to other programs to which they may be 
assigned. Principals and Vice-Principals salaries are allocated to school administration 
and may be partially allocated to other programs to recognize their other responsibilities. 

 Employee benefits and allowances are allocated to the same programs, and in the same 
proportions, as the individual’s salary. 

 Supplies and services are allocated based on actual program identification. 
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NOTE 2 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued) 
 
n) Financial Instruments  

 
A contract establishing a financial instrument creates, at its inception, rights and obligations to 
receive or deliver economic benefits. The financial assets and financial liabilities portray these 
rights and obligations in the financial statements. The School District recognizes a financial 
instrument when it becomes a party to a financial instrument contract.  
 
Financial instruments consist of cash and cash equivalents, accounts receivable, accounts 
payable and accrued liabilities, and other liabilities. 
 
All financial assets and liabilities are recorded at cost or amortized cost and the associated 
transaction costs are added to the carrying value of these investments upon initial recognition 

and amortized using the effective interest rate method. Transaction costs are incremental costs 
directly attributable to the acquisition or issue of a financial asset or a financial liability.  

 
Unrealized gains and losses from changes in the fair value of financial instruments are 
recognized in the statement of remeasurement gains and losses. Upon settlement, the cumulative 
gain or loss is reclassified from the statement of remeasurement gains and losses and recognized 
in the statement of operations. Interest and dividends attributable to financial instruments are 
reported in the statement of operations. There are no measurement gains or losses during the 
periods presented; therefore, no statement of remeasurement gains or losses is included in these 
financial statements. 
 
All financial assets except derivatives are tested annually for impairment. When financial assets 
are impaired, impairment losses are recorded in the statement of operations. A write-down of a 
portfolio investment to reflect a loss in value is not reversed for a subsequent increase in value.  
  
For financial instruments measured using amortized cost, the effective interest rate method is 
used to determine interest revenue or expense.  
 

 
o) Statement of Remeasurement Gains and Losses 

 
A statement of re-measurement gains and losses has not been presented as the District does not 
hold any financial assets or liabilities that would give rise to remeasurement gains or losses. 
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NOTE 2 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued) 
 

p) Going Concern disclosure 
 
The School District has implemented CPA Canada Handbook Section 1400, General Standards 
of Financial Statement Presentation. This standard includes requirements for management to 
assess and disclose an entity’s ability to continue as a going concern. Management has made its 
assessment and concluded there is no issue regarding the School District’s ability to continue as 
a going concern based on the assumption that the current funding levels are maintained and any 
committed additional future funding is received. If there are significant declines in funding, 
expenses will be adjusted to match committed funding. 

 
q) Future Changes in Accounting Policies 

 

Effective July 1, 2022 the School District will be required to adopt PS3400 Revenue. Under the 
standard, transactions that include performance obligations are identified as “exchange contracts” 
while those that do not have performance obligations are identified as “non-exchange contracts”. 
Revenues from exchange contracts are to be recognized when the underlying performance 
obligations have been satisfied while revenues from non-exchange contracts are to be recognized 
when received or receivable. This standard may be applied retroactively or prospectively and 
early adoption is permitted. The impact of adopting this standard on the School District’s 
financial results cannot be determined at this time. 

 
Effective July 1, 2022 the school District will be required to adopt PS3280 Asset Retirement 
Obligations. This standard establishes when to recognize and how to measure an asset retirement 
obligation. This standard may be applied retroactively or prospectively and early adoption is 
permitted. The impact of adopting this standard on the School District’s financial results cannot 
be determined at this time. 

 
 
NOTE 3 ACCOUNTS RECEIVABLE – OTHER  
 
 2020 2019 

   
Due from Federal Government $53,400 $52,660 

Due from Others 84,026 154,045 

   
 $137,426 $206,705 
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NOTE 4 ACCOUNTS PAYABLE AND ACCRUED LIABILITIES – OTHER 
 
 2020 2019 
   
Trade payables  $959,763 $461,422 
Salaries and benefits payable 17,495 195,874 
Deductions Payable 1,396,496 1,214,369 
   
 $2,373,754 $1,871,665 

 
NOTE 5 EXPENSE BY OBJECT 
 2020  

 

 2019 
 

Salaries  $20,893,083 $19,216,327 
Benefits 4,729,790 4,249,168 
Services and supplies 8,846,921 8,688,836 
Amortization 1,928,693 1,888,436 
 $36,398,487 $34,042,767 

 
NOTE 6 DEFERRED REVENUE 
 
Deferred revenue includes unspent grants and contributions received that meet the description of a 
restricted contribution in the Restricted Contributions Regulation 198/2011 issued by Treasury 
Board, i.e., the stipulations associated with those grants and contributions have not yet been 
fulfilled. Detailed information about the changes in deferred revenue are as follows:  

 
 

2020  
 

2019 
    
Balance, beginning of year $   157,965   $173,136 

Increases: 
   Provincial Grant – Ministry of Ed 

                   
$4,394,728   

                   
$4,330,934    

       Federal Grants      -            - 
Other 1,653,509    1,909,870 
Investment income                          

 6,048,237    6,240,804 
Decreases:    

       Transfers to Revenue 5,633,006     6,255,975 
    

Net Changes for the year 415,231   (15,171) 
    
Balance, end of the year $573,196     $   157,965 
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NOTE 7  DEFERRED CAPITAL REVENUE 
   

 
Deferred capital revenue includes grants and contributions received that are restricted by the 
contributor for the acquisition of tangible capital assets that meet the description of a restricted 
contribution in the Restricted Contributions Regulation 198/2011 issued by Treasury Board. Once 
spent, the contributions are amortized into revenue over the life of the asset acquired. Detailed 
information about the changes in deferred capital revenue is as follows: 
  
         

 

           
Deferred Cap 

Revenue 

   Unspent 
Def. Cap 
Revenue 

Total        
2020  2019 

Balance, beginning of year $37,887,922 $   - $  37,887,922  38,479,048 
Increases:      

Transfers from DC - capital additions         1,216,348        1,216,348  974,881 
Transfers from DC – WIP          

      

Provincial Grants – MEd  1,216,348      1,216,348  941,348 
Provincial Grants – Other     33,533 
Other Revenue      

           

 
  

1,216,348 
   

1,216,348 2,432,696  1,949,762 
Decreases:      

Amortization         1,599,999  1,599,999  1,566,007 
Transfers to DCR - Capital Additions       1,216,348   1,216,348  974,881 
Transfers to DCR – WIP           
Transfers to capital expense      

      

 Net 
       

(383,651) 
 

-    (383,651)    (591,126) 
      

 
Balance, end of the year 

   
 

$37,504,271 

                                           
 

$    - $  37,504,271  $ 37,887,922 
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NOTE 8  EMPLOYEE FUTURE BENEFITS 
 
Benefits include vested sick leave, accumulating non-vested sick leave, early retirement, 
retirement/severance, vacation, overtime and death benefits. Funding is provided when the benefits 
are paid and accordingly, there are no plan assets.  Although no plan assets are uniquely identified, 
the School District has provided for the payment of these benefits.  
 
 

 2020 2019 
Reconciliation of Accrued Benefit Obligation 

Accrued Benefit Obligation – April 1  $824,910 $660,110 
Service Cost 66,407 52,690 
Interest Cost 21,158 19,027 
Benefit Payments (37,502) (28,567) 
Increase (Decrease) in obligation due to Plan Amendment - - 
Actuarial (Gain) Loss (37,618) 121,650 
Accrued Benefit Obligation – March 31 $837,805 $824,910 

 
Reconciliation of Funded Status at End of Fiscal Year 

Accrued Benefit Obligation – March 31 $837,805 $824,910 
Market Value of Plan Assets – March 31 - - 
Funded Status – Surplus (Deficit) (837,805) (824,910) 
Employer Contributions After Measurement Date - 6,777 
Benefits Expense After Measurement Date (22,423) (21,891) 
Unamortized Net Actuarial (Gain) Loss 130,960 203,827 
Accrued Benefit Asset (Liability) – June 30 $(729,268) $(636,197) 

 
Reconciliation of Change in Accrued Benefit Liability 

Accrued Benefit Liability – July 1  $636,197 $572,382 
Net expense for Fiscal Year 123,346 98,386 
Employer Contributions (30,274) (34,572) 
Accrued Benefit Liability – June 30 $729,268 $636,197 
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NOTE 8  EMPLOYEE FUTURE BENEFITS (Continued) 
 

 2020 2019 
Components of Net Benefit Expense 

Service Cost $67,305 $56,119 
Interest Cost 20,792 19,560 
Immediate Recognition of Plan Amendment - - 
Amortization of Net Actuarial (Gain)/Loss 35,249 22,707 
Net Benefit Expense (Income) $123,346 $98,386 

 
The significant actuarial assumptions adopted for measuring the School District’s accrued benefit 
obligations are:  
 

Discount Rate – April 1 2.50% 2.75% 
Discount Rate – March 31 2.25% 2.50% 
Long Term Salary Growth – April 1 2.50% + seniority 2.50% + seniority 
Long Term Salary Growth – March 31 2.50% + seniority 2.50% + seniority 
EARSL – March 31 
 

9.7 9.7 

 
 
NOTE 9 UNEARNED REVENUE 

 2020 2019 
Balance, beginning of year $635,371 $1,203,650 
Changes for the year:   
 Increase:   
        Tuition fees  322,930 616,505 
        Rental/Lease of facilities 6,153 18,866 
        
 329,083 635,371 

 Decrease:   
        Tuition fees  630,765 1,203,650 
        Rental/Lease of facilities 9,606  
        

Net changes for the year (311,288) (568,279) 
Balance, end of year $324,083 $635,371 
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NOTE 10 TANGIBLE CAPITAL ASSETS 
  

 
Net Book Value: 

 
Net Book Value 

2020 
Net Book Value 

2019 

Sites $4,038,922 $4,038,922 
Buildings 41,250,642 41,572,489 
   
Furniture & Equipment 769,814 887,077 
Vehicles 576,722 722,460 
Computer Software 38,663 59,362 
Computer Hardware 90,366 164,839 
   
Total $46,765,129 $47,445,149 

 
June 30, 2020 

 Opening Cost Additions Disposals 
 
 

Total 
 2020 

Sites $4,038,922 $ $  $4,038,922 
Buildings 67,053,231 1,216,348   68,269,579 
      
Furniture & Equipment 1,457,091 28,446 151,252  1,334,285 
Vehicles 1,496,166 3,879 110,929  1,389,116 
Computer Software 103,495  21,844  81,651 
Computer Hardware 372,365  183,309  189,056 
      
Total $74,521,270 $1,248,673 $467,334  $75,302,609 

 

 

Opening 
Accumulated 
Amortization Additions Disposals 

Total  
 2020 

Sites $ $ $ $ 
Buildings 25,480,742 1,538,195  27,018,937 
Furniture & Equipment 570,014 145,709 151,252 564,471 
Vehicles 773,706 149,617 110,929 812,394 
Computer Software 44,133 20,699 21,844 42,988 
Computer Hardware 207,526 74,473 183,309 98,690 
     
Total $27,076,121 $1,928,693 $467,334 $28,537,480 



 

 
 
 
 

POWELL RIVER BOARD OF EDUCATION  
SCHOOL DISTRICT NO. 47  

 
FINANCIAL STATEMENT NOTES 
YEAR ENDED JUNE 30, 2020 
 

 

 

 Page 21 of 27 June 2020 

NOTE 10 TANGIBLE CAPITAL ASSETS (Continued) 
 
 
June 30, 2019 

 Opening Cost Additions Disposals 
 Total 

 2019 

Sites $4,038,922 $ $  $4,038,922 
Buildings 66,097,451 955,780   67,053,231 
Buildings – work in progress      
Furniture & Equipment 1,293,799 214,187 50,895  1,457,091 
Vehicles 1,499,375 21,264 24,473  1,496,166 
Computer Software 103,495    103,495 
Computer Hardware 372,365    372,365 
      
Total $73,405,407 $1,191,231 $75,368  $74,521,270 

 

 

Opening 
Accumulated 
Amortization Additions Disposals 

Total  
 2019 

Sites $ $ $ $ 
Buildings 23,966,796 1,513,946  25,480,742 
Furniture & Equipment 491,529 129,380 50,895 570,014 
Vehicles 648,241 149,938 24,473 773,706 
Computer Software 24,434 20,699  44,133 
Computer Hardware 133,053 74,473  207,526 
     
Total $25,263,053 $1,888,436 $75,368 $27,076,121 

 
 

NOTE 11 CONTINGENCIES 
 
Ongoing Legal Proceedings 
 
In the ordinary course of operations, the School District has legal proceedings brought against it and 
provision has been included in liabilities where appropriate. It is the opinion of management that 
final determination of these claims will not have a material effect on the financial position or 
operations of the School District. 
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NOTE 12  EMPLOYEE PENSION PLANS  
 

The School District and its employees contribute to the Teachers’ Pension Plan and Municipal Pension 

Plan (jointly trusteed pension plans). The boards of trustees for these plans, representing plan members 
and employers, are responsible for administering the pension plans, including investing assets and 

administering benefits. The plans are multi-employer defined benefit pension plans. Basic pension 

benefits are based on a formula. As at December 31, 2018, the Teachers’ Pension Plan has about 48,000 

active members and approximately 38,000 retired members. As of December 31, 2018, the Municipal 

Pension Plan has about 205,000 active members, including approximately 26,000 from school districts.  

 

Every three years, an actuarial valuation is performed to assess the financial position of the plans and 

adequacy of plan funding. The actuary determines an appropriate combined employer and member 

contribution rate to fund the plans. The actuary’s calculated contribution rate is based on the entry-age 

normal cost method, which produces the long-term rate of member and employer contributions 

sufficient to provide benefits for average future entrants to the plans. This rate may be adjusted for the 

amortization of any actuarial funding surplus and will be adjusted for the amortization of any unfunded 
actuarial liability. 

 

The most recent actuarial valuation of the Teachers’ Pension Plan as at December 31, 2017, indicated a 

$1,656 million surplus for basic pension benefits on a going concern basis. As a result of the 2017 basic 

account actuarial valuation surplus, plan enhancements and contribution rate adjustments were made; 
the remaining $644 million surplus was transferred to the rate stabilization account. 

 

The most recent actuarial valuation for the Municipal Pension Plan as at December 31, 2018, indicated 

a $2,866 million funding surplus for basic pension benefits on a going concern basis.  

 

The school district paid $2,113,129 for employer contributions to the plans for the year ended June 
30, 2020 (2019: $2,031,937) 

 
The next valuation for the Teachers’ Pension Plan will be as at December 31, 2020, with results 
available in 2021. The next valuation for the Municipal Pension Plan will be as at December 31, 2021, 
with results available in 2022.  
 
Employers participating in the plans record their pension expense as the amount of employer 
contributions made during the fiscal year (defined contribution pension plan accounting). This is 
because the plans record accrued liabilities and accrued assets for each plan in aggregate, resulting in 
no consistent and reliable basis for allocating the obligation, assets and cost to individual employers 
participating in the plans. 
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NOTE 13 INTERFUND TRANSFERS 
 
Interfund transfers between the operating, special purpose and capital funds for the year ended June 
30, 2020, were as follows: 
 

 $250,000 from the Operating Fund to the Local Capital Fund 
 
 
 
NOTE 14 RELATED PARTY TRANSACTIONS 
 
The School District is related through common ownership to all Province of British Columbia 
ministries, agencies, school districts, health authorities, colleges, universities, and crown 
corporations.  Transactions with these entities, unless disclosed separately, are considered to be in 
the normal course of operations and are recorded at the exchange amount. 
 
 
 
NOTE 15 ECONOMIC DEPENDENCE  

The operations of the School District are dependent on continued funding from the Ministry of 
Education and various governmental agencies to carry out its programs.  These financial statements 
have been prepared on a going concern basis. 
 
 
 
NOTE 16 ASSET RETIREMENT OBLIGATION 
 

The School District presently is unable to estimate future obligations related to the removal and 
disposal of asbestos which is believed to be prevalent throughout School District owned buildings 
built prior to the mid 1980s. At present such estimates can only be provided for buildings that are in 
the process of being decommissioned. Over the period to the required implementation in 2022 of a 
new PSAS standard PS3280 Asset Retirement Obligations the School District will be working 
towards establishing reliable estimates in respect of asbestos removal and disposal throughout all 
relevant School District buildings. 
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NOTE 17 BUDGET FIGURES 
 
Budget figures included in the financial statements were approved by the Board through the 
adoption of an amended annual budget on February 12, 2020.  The Board adopted a preliminary 
annual budget on June 11, 2019.  The amended budget is used for comparison purposes, as these are 
based on actual student enrollments.  The difference between the two budgets is as follows: 
 
 

      

   2020 2020  

      Amended Preliminary Difference 

Revenues     

 Provincial Grants    

  Ministry of Education 31,078,149 28,135,724 2,942,425 

  Other               75,000   
                      

60,000                15,000   

      

 Tuition 909,750             650,000             259,750 

 Other Revenue 2,733,900 2,770,508 (36,608) 

 Rentals and Leases 223,500              193,500  30,000 

 Investment Income              54,000  55,000 (1,000) 

 Amortization of Deferred Capital Revenue          1,599,999  
        

1,556,007 
                     

43,992  

 Total Revenue       36,674,298        33,430,739  
               

3,243,559  

Expenses     

 Instruction       29,322,369  27,185,673 2,136,696 

 District Administration 1,394,732  1,141,576 253,156 

 Operations and Maintenance 5,226,684  4,798,880 427,804 

 Transportation and Housing 
        

1,079,615  1,009,938 69,677 

                                              

 Total Expenses       37,023,400  34,136,067 2,887,333  

Surplus (Deficit) for the year        (349,102) (705,328 356,226 

Effects of change in Tangible Capital Assets    

 Acquisition of Tangible Capital Assets       -  -        -        

 Amortization of Tangible Capital Assets        1,928,693  1,888,436 40,257 

 Total Effect of change in Tangible     

 Capital Assets       1,928,693  1,888,436 40,257 

(Increase) Decrease in Net Financial Assets    

(Debt)       1,579,591 1,183,108       396,483 
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NOTE 18 ACCUMULATED SURPLUS  

 

Internally Restricted (appropriated) by Board for: 
 

 2020 2019 

School & Program Based Resources : 
Technology Initiatives 
Curriculum Implementation 
Educational Change Committee 
Dual Credit Course Fees                                                             
Student Achievement Initiatives 
Wellness Project 
Eco & Sustainability Initiatives 
Social Worker 
School Resources Carried Forward 
Contingency Fund                                        

    
$      161,393 

- 
- 

195,000 
299,138 

- 
- 
- 

122,117 
275,000 

   
   $20,000 

68,500 
10,000 

- 
     195,000 

14,400 
7,500 

75,000 
36,118 

250,000 
       

Subtotal Internally Restricted Operating Surplus     1,052,648    676,518 
    

Unrestricted Operating Surplus  
 
 

Local Capital: 
 

Replacement Fund for Artificial Playfield  
Ongoing Investment into Outdoor Learning Centre 
Equipment Replacement Fund  
 
 
Investment In Capital Assets 
 

    970,515 
     2,023,163         

 
 
 

375,000 
169,205 
75,000 

619,205 
 

9,260,858 

   236,278 
      912,796 

 
 
 

250,000 
80,000 
67,530 

397,530 
 

9,557,227 

Total Available for Future Operations  $11,903,226 $10,867,553 
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NOTE 19 RISK MANAGEMENT 
 
All significant financial assets, financial liabilities and equity instruments of the School District are 
either recognized or disclosed in the financial statements together with other information relevant 
for making a reasonable assessment of future cash flows, interest rate risk and credit risk. 
 

 Credit Risk 
Financial instruments that potentially subject the School District to concentrations of 
credit risk consist primarily of other receivables.  The maximum credit risk exposure 
is $137,426 (2019 - $206,705).   

 
The School District manages its credit risk by performing regular credit assessments 
of its customers and provides allowances for potentially uncollectible accounts 
receivable. 

 
 Liquidity Risk 

 
Liquidity risk is the risk that the School District will encounter difficulty in meeting 
obligations associated with financial liabilities. 
   
The School District manages liquidity risk by continually monitoring actual and 
forecasted cash flows from operations and anticipated investing activities to ensure, 
as far as possible to always have sufficient liquidity to meet its liabilities when due, 
under both normal and stressed conditions, without incurring unacceptable losses or 
risking damage to the School District’s reputation. 

 
 Foreign Currency Risk 

 
Foreign currency risk is the risk that the fair value of future cash flows of a financial 
instrument will fluctuate because of changes in foreign exchange rates.  In seeking to 
manage the risks from foreign exchange rate fluctuations, the School District does 
not hold significant funds in U.S. dollars in order to reduce their risk against adverse 
movements in the foreign exchange rates. 

 
 Financial Asset Impairment 

At each year-end date, the School District is required to evaluate and record any 
other-than-temporary impairment of its financial assets, other than those classified as 
held for trading.  Accordingly, the School District has compared the carrying value of 
each of these financial assets to its fair value as at June 30, 2019.  No provision for 
impairment was recorded in the current year, as the fair value of all financial assets 
tested exceeded their carrying value. 
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NOTE 19 RISK MANAGEMENT (Continued) 
 

 Fair Values of Financial Instruments 
The carrying amount of cash, accounts receivable and accounts payable and accrued 
liabilities approximates their fair value due to the short-term maturities of these 
items. 
 

 Risk Management Policy 
The School District, as part of its operations, has established objectives (i.e. hedging 
of risk exposures and avoidance of undue concentrations of risk) to mitigate credit 
risk as risk management objectives.  In seeking to meet these objectives, the School 
District follows a risk management policy approved by its Board of Trustees. 

 
 



Schedule 1 (Unaudited)

2020 2019

Operating Special Purpose Capital Actual Actual

Fund Fund Fund

$ $ $ $ $

Accumulated Surplus (Deficit), beginning of year 912,796               9,954,757            10,867,553          11,269,879          

Changes for the year

Surplus (Deficit) for the year 1,360,367            (324,694)              1,035,673            (402,326)              

Interfund Transfers

Local Capital (250,000)              250,000               -                           

Net Changes for the year 1,110,367            -                           (74,694)                1,035,673            (402,326)              

Accumulated Surplus (Deficit), end of year - Statement 2 2,023,163            -                           9,880,063            11,903,226          10,867,553          

School District No. 47 (Powell River)
Schedule of Changes in Accumulated Surplus (Deficit) by Fund

Year Ended June 30, 2020
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Schedule 2 (Unaudited)

2020 2020 2019

Budget Actual Actual

(Note 17)

$ $ $

Revenues

Provincial Grants

Ministry of Education 26,689,782        27,483,822        23,191,100        

Other 75,000               101,100             114,100             

Tuition 909,750             1,062,276          950,616             

Other Revenue 1,230,538          1,284,272          1,234,930          

Rentals and Leases 223,500             217,446             253,207             

Investment Income 50,000               48,239               71,506               

Total Revenue 29,178,570        30,197,155        25,815,459        

Expenses

Instruction 23,741,124        23,491,015        20,916,579        

District Administration 1,302,178          1,134,948          977,806             

Operations and Maintenance 3,229,678          3,249,837          3,079,683          

Transportation and Housing 929,998             960,988             924,288             

Total Expense 29,202,978        28,836,788        25,898,356        

Operating Surplus (Deficit) for the year (24,408)              1,360,367          (82,897)              

Budgeted Appropriation (Retirement) of Surplus (Deficit) 24,408               

Net Transfers (to) from other funds

Local Capital (250,000)            

Total Net Transfers -                        (250,000)            -                        

Total Operating Surplus (Deficit), for the year -                        1,110,367          (82,897)              

Operating Surplus (Deficit), beginning of year 912,796             995,693             

Operating Surplus (Deficit), end of year 2,023,163          912,796             

Operating Surplus (Deficit), end of year

Internally Restricted 1,052,648          676,518             

Unrestricted 970,515             236,278             

Total Operating Surplus (Deficit), end of year 2,023,163          912,796             

School District No. 47 (Powell River)
Schedule of Operating Operations

Year Ended June 30, 2020

Version: 6883-6138-4155
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Schedule 2A (Unaudited)

2020 2020 2019

Budget Actual Actual

(Note 17)

$ $ $

Provincial Grants - Ministry of Education

Operating Grant, Ministry of Education 27,133,939        27,562,477        23,689,201        

ISC/LEA Recovery (1,002,242)         (1,018,738)         (1,002,242)         

Other Ministry of Education Grants

Pay Equity 243,303             243,304             243,304             

Funding for Graduated Adults 11,936               8,807                 

Transportation Supplement 91,754               91,754               91,754               

Economic Stability Dividend 23,564               

Carbon Tax Grant 30,000               30,978               30,978               

Employer Health Tax Grant 185,528             185,528             56,378               

Strategic Priorities - Mental Health Grant 35,000               

BCTEA - LEA Capacity Building Grant 6,850                 

Support Staff Wage Increase Funding 99,565               

Teachers’ Labour Settlement Funding 259,938             

FSA & Monitored Marking 7,500                 7,506                 7,506                 

District Capacity Building - Early Learning 9,574                 

Total Provincial Grants - Ministry of Education 26,689,782        27,483,822        23,191,100        

Provincial Grants - Other 75,000               101,100             114,100             

Tuition

Summer School Fees 15,784               13,736               

International and Out of Province Students 909,750             1,046,492          936,880             

Total Tuition 909,750             1,062,276          950,616             

Other Revenues

Other School District/Education Authorities 164,296             164,296             125,263             

Funding from First Nations 1,002,242          1,018,738          1,002,242          

Miscellaneous

Misc. Billings & Recoveries 50,000               69,570               36,759               

Purchase Card Rebate 14,000               14,287               13,968               

Edgehill PAC 10,000               

Pacific Blue Cross 40,298               

Art Starts Grant 6,400                 6,400                 

Cosmotology Revenues 10,981               

Total Other Revenue 1,230,538          1,284,272          1,234,930          

Rentals and Leases 223,500             217,446             253,207             

Investment Income 50,000               48,239               71,506               

Total Operating Revenue 29,178,570        30,197,155        25,815,459        

School District No. 47 (Powell River)
Schedule of Operating Revenue by Source

Year Ended June 30, 2020

Version: 6883-6138-4155

 September 24, 2020  12:25 Page 30



Schedule 2B (Unaudited)

2020 2020 2019

Budget Actual Actual

(Note 17)

$ $ $

Salaries

Teachers 10,074,063        10,235,792        9,047,617          

Principals and Vice Principals 1,718,000          1,711,122          1,439,701          

Educational Assistants 2,150,234          2,079,263          2,100,569          

Support Staff 2,448,967          2,206,047          1,871,031          

Other Professionals 1,330,523          1,224,681          1,273,997          

Substitutes 1,014,029          851,842             872,900             

Total Salaries 18,735,816        18,308,747        16,605,815        

Employee Benefits 4,427,456          4,239,053          3,735,542          

Total Salaries and Benefits 23,163,272        22,547,800        20,341,357        

Services and Supplies

Services 2,042,499          2,008,414          1,984,399          

Student Transportation 13,200               6,391                 17,731               

Professional Development and Travel 285,322             298,562             366,861             

Rentals and Leases 247,800             225,397             213,584             

Dues and Fees 348,500             371,245             354,963             

Insurance 70,000               74,139               69,765               

Supplies 2,504,885          2,748,164          1,986,956          

Utilities 527,500             556,676             562,740             

Total Services and Supplies 6,039,706          6,288,988          5,556,999          

Total Operating Expense 29,202,978        28,836,788        25,898,356        

School District No. 47 (Powell River)

Year Ended June 30, 2020

Schedule of Operating Expense by Object

Version: 6883-6138-4155
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Schedule 2C (Unaudited)School District No. 47 (Powell River)
Operating Expense by Function, Program and Object

Principals and Educational Support Other

Teachers Vice Principals Assistants Staff Professionals Substitutes Total

Salaries Salaries Salaries Salaries Salaries Salaries Salaries

$ $ $ $ $ $ $

1 Instruction

1.02 Regular Instruction 8,391,175            259,870               183,074               338,935               538,834               9,711,888            

1.03 Career Programs 98,932                46,927                145,859               

1.07 Library Services 160,708               1,067                  15,399                177,174               

1.08 Counselling 215,653               1,067                  23,303                240,023               

1.10 Special Education 962,521               122,661               2,079,263            12,708                273,911               104,572               3,555,636            

1.30 English Language Learning 13,421                13,421                

1.31 Indigenous Education 251,018               3,601                  6,451                  261,070               

1.41 School Administration 1,068,214            428,319               27,653                1,524,186            

1.60 Summer School 32,665                32,665                

1.61 Continuing Education 84,770                51,829                136,599               

1.62 International and Out of Province Students 57,594                33,498                11,791                102,883               

Total Function 1 10,235,792          1,536,905            2,079,263            662,803               664,675               721,966               15,901,404          

4 District Administration

4.11 Educational Administration 174,217               213,566               387,783               

4.40 School District Governance 87,900                87,900                

4.41 Business Administration 112,208               144,707               256,915               

Total Function 4 -                          174,217               -                          112,208               446,173               -                          732,598               

5 Operations and Maintenance

5.41 Operations and Maintenance Administration 15,427                75,171                90,598                

5.50 Maintenance Operations 929,892               6,852                  72,855                1,009,599            

5.52 Maintenance of Grounds 75,993                75,993                

5.56 Utilities -                          

Total Function 5 -                          -                          -                          1,021,312            82,023                72,855                1,176,190            

7 Transportation and Housing

7.41 Transportation and Housing Administration 18,843                31,810                50,653                

7.70 Student Transportation 390,881               57,021                447,902               

Total Function 7 -                          -                          -                          409,724               31,810                57,021                498,555               

9 Debt Services

Total Function 9 -                          -                          -                          -                          -                          -                          -                          

Total Functions 1 - 9 10,235,792          1,711,122            2,079,263            2,206,047            1,224,681            851,842               18,308,747          

Year Ended June 30, 2020
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Schedule 2C (Unaudited)School District No. 47 (Powell River)
Operating Expense by Function, Program and Object

1 Instruction

1.02 Regular Instruction

1.03 Career Programs

1.07 Library Services

1.08 Counselling

1.10 Special Education

1.30 English Language Learning

1.31 Indigenous Education

1.41 School Administration

1.60 Summer School

1.61 Continuing Education

1.62 International and Out of Province Students

Total Function 1

4 District Administration

4.11 Educational Administration

4.40 School District Governance

4.41 Business Administration

Total Function 4

5 Operations and Maintenance

5.41 Operations and Maintenance Administration

5.50 Maintenance Operations

5.52 Maintenance of Grounds

5.56 Utilities

Total Function 5

7 Transportation and Housing

7.41 Transportation and Housing Administration

7.70 Student Transportation

Total Function 7

9 Debt Services

Total Function 9

Total Functions 1 - 9

Year Ended June 30, 2020

2020 2020 2019

Total Employee Total Salaries Services and Actual Budget Actual

Salaries Benefits and Benefits Supplies (Note 17)

$ $ $ $ $ $ $

9,711,888            2,283,090            11,994,978          2,592,125            14,587,103          14,362,878          12,020,048          

145,859               21,127                166,986               2,710                  169,696               176,734               126,278               

177,174               44,485                221,659               12,558                234,217               258,317               251,935               

240,023               60,273                300,296               1,015                  301,311               260,331               334,295               

3,555,636            862,101               4,417,737            213,951               4,631,688            4,861,724            4,821,368            

13,421                4,015                  17,436                17,436                45,000                85,853                

261,070               60,208                321,278               52,356                373,634               363,755               425,149               

1,524,186            328,964               1,853,150            97,740                1,950,890            2,059,880            1,539,288            

32,665                6,939                  39,604                147,320               186,924               160,000               59,197                

136,599               33,061                169,660               282,233               451,893               466,971               586,647               

102,883               20,874                123,757               462,466               586,223               725,534               666,521               

15,901,404          3,725,137            19,626,541          3,864,474            23,491,015          23,741,124          20,916,579          

387,783               83,243                471,026               44,178                515,204               593,523               314,970               

87,900                4,920                  92,820                27,247                120,067               125,000               165,893               

256,915               59,063                315,978               183,699               499,677               583,655               496,943               

732,598               147,226               879,824               255,124               1,134,948            1,302,178            977,806               

90,598                20,530                111,128               60,360                171,488               146,040               104,237               

1,009,599            218,755               1,228,354            1,135,146            2,363,500            2,382,882            2,231,346            

75,993                15,619                91,612                66,561                158,173               173,256               181,360               

-                          -                          556,676               556,676               527,500               562,740               

1,176,190            254,904               1,431,094            1,818,743            3,249,837            3,229,678            3,079,683            

50,653                11,158                61,811                1,940                  63,751                57,033                42,089                

447,902               100,628               548,530               348,707               897,237               872,965               882,199               

498,555               111,786               610,341               350,647               960,988               929,998               924,288               

-                          -                          -                          -                          -                          -                          -                          

18,308,747          4,239,053            22,547,800          6,288,988            28,836,788          29,202,978          25,898,356          
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Schedule 3 (Unaudited)

2020 2020 2019

Budget Actual Actual

(Note 17)

$ $ $

Revenues

Provincial Grants

Ministry of Education 4,388,367          4,323,856          4,385,711          

Other Revenue 1,503,362          1,309,150          1,870,264          

Total Revenue 5,891,729          5,633,006          6,255,975          

Expenses

Instruction 5,581,245          5,322,522          5,951,545          

District Administration 92,554               92,554               86,500               

Operations and Maintenance 217,930             217,930             217,930             

Total Expense 5,891,729          5,633,006          6,255,975          

Special Purpose Surplus (Deficit) for the year -                        -                        -                        

Total Special Purpose Surplus (Deficit) for the year -                        -                        -                        

Special Purpose Surplus (Deficit), beginning of year

Special Purpose Surplus (Deficit), end of year -                        -                        

School District No. 47 (Powell River)

Year Ended June 30, 2020

Schedule of Special Purpose Operations

Version: 6883-6138-4155
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Schedule 3A (Unaudited)School District No. 47 (Powell River)
Changes in Special Purpose Funds and Expense by Object

Annual Learning Scholarships School Ready, Rural Education

Facility Improvement and Generated Strong Set, Enhancement

Grant Fund Bursaries Funds Start Learn OLEP CommunityLINK Fund

$ $ $ $ $ $ $ $ $

Deferred Revenue, beginning of year 13,103                143,500              

Add: Restricted Grants

Provincial Grants - Ministry of Education 122,930              88,298                128,632              15,089                48,540              201,861                260,000              

Other 317                     1,548,218           

122,930              88,298                317                     1,548,218           128,632              15,089                48,540              201,861                260,000              

Less: Allocated to Revenue 122,930              88,298                -                          1,204,176           128,632              15,089                47,273              132,256                260,000              

Deferred Revenue, end of year -                          -                          13,420                487,542              -                          -                          1,267                69,605                  -                          

Revenues

Provincial Grants - Ministry of Education 122,930              88,298                128,632              15,089                47,273              132,256                260,000              

Other Revenue 1,204,176           

122,930              88,298                -                          1,204,176           128,632              15,089                47,273              132,256                260,000              

Expenses

Salaries

Teachers 23,673              30,750                  38,500                

Principals and Vice Principals 100,000              

Educational Assistants 79,978                

Support Staff 3,812                  90,276                8,200                    

Other Professionals 24,289                  

Substitutes

3,812                  79,978                -                          -                          90,276                -                          23,673              63,239                  138,500              

Employee Benefits 8,320                  23,400                2,367                4,475                    26,500                

Services and Supplies 119,118              1,204,176           14,956                15,089                21,233              64,542                  95,000                

122,930              88,298                -                          1,204,176           128,632              15,089                47,273              132,256                260,000              

Net Revenue (Expense) before Interfund Transfers -                          -                          -                          -                          -                          -                          -                        -                            -                          

Interfund Transfers

-                          -                          -                          -                          -                          -                          -                        -                            -                          

Net Revenue (Expense) -                          -                          -                          -                          -                          -                          -                        -                            -                          

Year Ended June 30, 2020
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Schedule 3A (Unaudited)School District No. 47 (Powell River)
Changes in Special Purpose Funds and Expense by Object

Deferred Revenue, beginning of year

Add: Restricted Grants

Provincial Grants - Ministry of Education

Other

Less: Allocated to Revenue

Deferred Revenue, end of year

Revenues

Provincial Grants - Ministry of Education

Other Revenue

Expenses

Salaries

Teachers

Principals and Vice Principals

Educational Assistants

Support Staff

Other Professionals

Substitutes

Employee Benefits

Services and Supplies

Net Revenue (Expense) before Interfund Transfers

Interfund Transfers

Net Revenue (Expense)

Year Ended June 30, 2020

Classroom Classroom Classroom Mental Changing Auditory Culinary Arts

Enhancement Enhancement Enhancement Health Results for Outreach New Life Partnership 

Fund - Overhead Fund - Staffing Fund - Remedies in Schools Young Children Program Society Program TOTAL

$ $ $ $ $ $ $ $ $

1,362                  157,965              

135,104              1,709,899           360,099              30,500                1,800                  1,291,976           4,394,728           

104,974              1,653,509           

135,104              1,709,899           360,099              30,500                1,800                  1,291,976           -                          104,974              6,048,237           

135,104              1,709,899           360,099              30,500                1,800                  1,291,976           -                          104,974              5,633,006           

-                          -                          -                          -                          -                          -                          1,362                  -                          573,196              

135,104              1,709,899           360,099              30,500                1,800                  1,291,976           4,323,856           

104,974              1,309,150           

135,104              1,709,899           360,099              30,500                1,800                  1,291,976           -                          104,974              5,633,006           

6,969                  1,378,951           308,238              18,155                1,805,236           

100,000              

9,180                  89,158                

28,364                86,718                217,370              

234,144              258,433              

87,514                19,125                6,375                  1,125                  114,139              

122,847              1,378,951           336,543              6,375                  1,125                  339,017              -                          -                          2,584,336           

2,836                  330,948              23,556                68,335                490,737              

9,421                  24,125                675                     884,624              104,974              2,557,933           

135,104              1,709,899           360,099              30,500                1,800                  1,291,976           -                          104,974              5,633,006           

-                          -                          -                          -                          -                          -                          -                          -                          -                          

-                          -                          -                          -                          -                          -                          -                          -                          -                          

-                          -                          -                          -                          -                          -                          -                          -                          -                          

Year Ended June 30, 2020
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Schedule 4 (Unaudited)

2020 2019

Budget Invested in Tangible Local Fund Actual

(Note 17) Capital Assets Capital Balance

$ $ $ $ $

Revenues

Investment Income 4,000             4,000             4,000             3,000                

Amortization of Deferred Capital Revenue 1,599,999      1,599,999                   1,599,999      1,566,007         

Total Revenue 1,603,999      1,599,999                   4,000             1,603,999      1,569,007         

Expenses

Amortization of Tangible Capital Assets

Operations and Maintenance 1,779,076      1,779,076                   1,779,076      1,738,498         

Transportation and Housing 149,617         149,617                      149,617         149,938            

Total Expense 1,928,693      1,928,693                   -                    1,928,693      1,888,436         

Capital Surplus (Deficit) for the year (324,694)        (328,694)                     4,000             (324,694)        (319,429)           

Net Transfers (to) from other funds

Local Capital 250,000         250,000         

Total Net Transfers -                    -                                 250,000         250,000         -                        

Other Adjustments to Fund Balances

Tangible Capital Assets Purchased from Local Capital 32,325                        (32,325)         -                    

Total Other Adjustments to Fund Balances 32,325                        (32,325)         -                    

Total Capital Surplus (Deficit) for the year (324,694)        (296,369)                     221,675         (74,694)         (319,429)           

Capital Surplus (Deficit), beginning of year 9,557,227                   397,530         9,954,757      10,274,186       

Capital Surplus (Deficit), end of year 9,260,858                   619,205         9,880,063      9,954,757         

2020 Actual

School District No. 47 (Powell River)
Schedule of Capital Operations

Year Ended June 30, 2020
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Schedule 4A (Unaudited)

Furniture and Computer Computer

Sites Buildings Equipment Vehicles Software Hardware Total

$ $ $ $ $ $ $

Cost, beginning of year 4,038,922            67,053,231          1,457,091            1,496,166            103,495               372,365               74,521,270          

Changes for the Year

Increase:

Purchases from:

Deferred Capital Revenue - Bylaw 1,216,348            1,216,348            

Local Capital 28,446                3,879                  32,325                

-                          1,216,348            28,446                3,879                  -                          -                          1,248,673            

Decrease:

Deemed Disposals 151,252               110,929               21,844                183,309               467,334               

-                          -                          151,252               110,929               21,844                183,309               467,334               

Cost, end of year 4,038,922            68,269,579          1,334,285            1,389,116            81,651                189,056               75,302,609          

Work in Progress, end of year -                          

Cost and Work in Progress, end of year 4,038,922            68,269,579          1,334,285            1,389,116            81,651                189,056               75,302,609          

Accumulated Amortization, beginning of year 25,480,742          570,014               773,706               44,133                207,526               27,076,121          

Changes for the Year

Increase:  Amortization for the Year 1,538,195            145,709               149,617               20,699                74,473                1,928,693            

Decrease:

Deemed Disposals 151,252               110,929               21,844                183,309               467,334               

-                          151,252               110,929               21,844                183,309               467,334               

Accumulated Amortization, end of year 27,018,937          564,471               812,394               42,988                98,690                28,537,480          

Tangible Capital Assets - Net 4,038,922            41,250,642          769,814               576,722               38,663                90,366                46,765,129          

School District No. 47 (Powell River)
Tangible Capital Assets

Year Ended June 30, 2020
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Schedule 4C (Unaudited)

Bylaw Other Other Total

Capital Provincial Capital Capital

$ $ $ $

Deferred Capital Revenue, beginning of year 34,576,432        2,490,251          821,239             37,887,922        

Changes for the Year

Increase:

Transferred from Deferred Revenue - Capital Additions 1,216,348          1,216,348          

1,216,348          -                        -                        1,216,348          

Decrease:

Amortization of Deferred Capital Revenue 1,485,574          88,506               25,919               1,599,999          

1,485,574          88,506               25,919               1,599,999          

Net Changes for the Year (269,226)            (88,506)              (25,919)              (383,651)            

Deferred Capital Revenue, end of year 34,307,206        2,401,745          795,320             37,504,271        

Work in Progress, beginning of year -                        

Changes for the Year

Net Changes for the Year -                        -                        -                        -                        

Work in Progress, end of year -                        -                        -                        -                        

Total Deferred Capital Revenue, end of year 34,307,206        2,401,745          795,320             37,504,271        

School District No. 47 (Powell River)
Deferred Capital Revenue

Year Ended June 30, 2020
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Schedule 4D (Unaudited)

MEd Other

Bylaw Restricted Provincial Land Other

Capital Capital Capital Capital Capital Total

$ $ $ $ $ $

Balance, beginning of year -                        

Changes for the Year

Increase:

Provincial Grants - Ministry of Education 1,216,348          1,216,348          

1,216,348          -                        -                        -                        -                        1,216,348          

Decrease:

Transferred to DCR - Capital Additions 1,216,348          1,216,348          

1,216,348          -                        -                        -                        -                        1,216,348          

Net Changes for the Year -                        -                        -                        -                        -                        -                        

Balance, end of year -                        -                        -                        -                        -                        -                        

School District No. 47 (Powell River)
Changes in Unspent Deferred Capital Revenue

Year Ended June 30, 2020
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Date: 09-Oct-2020 14:01 S.D.#47(Powell River) Page: 1

REPORT TO TRUSTEES
FOR THE PERIOD ENDING: September 30, 2020

EXPENDITURESCOMMITMENTS TOTAL BUDGET BALANCE AVAIL %

INSTRUCTION

100 Salaries 2,273,303 0 2,273,303 19,029,682 16,756,379 88

200 Employee Benefits And Allowances 467,134 0 467,134 4,234,059 3,766,925 89

300 Services Purchased 199,384 0 199,384 1,504,134 1,304,750 87

500 Supplies And Materials 161,790 0 161,790 1,657,975 1,496,185 90

------------- ------------ ---------- ---------- ---------- ----------

Total For INSTRUCTION 3,101,611 0 3,101,611 26,425,850 23,324,239 88

DISTRICT ADMINISTRATION

100 Salaries 211,556 0 211,556 857,842 646,286 75

200 Employee Benefits And Allowances 35,899 0 35,899 200,412 164,513 82

300 Services Purchased 50,301 0 50,301 207,302 157,001 76

500 Supplies And Materials 2,350 0 2,350 26,500 24,150 91

------------- ------------ ---------- ---------- ---------- ----------

Total For DISTRICT

ADMINISTRATION

300,106 0 300,106 1,292,056 991,950 77

OPERATIONS AND MAINTENANCE

100 Salaries 361,018 0 361,018 1,478,395 1,117,377 76

200 Employee Benefits And Allowances 65,508 0 65,508 327,485 261,977 80

300 Services Purchased 291,782 75,705 367,487 642,336 274,849 43

500 Supplies And Materials 362,663 0 362,663 1,077,000 714,337 66

------------- ------------ ---------- ---------- ---------- ----------

Total For OPERATIONS AND

MAINTENANCE

1,080,971 75,705 1,156,676 3,525,216 2,368,540 67

TRANSPORTATION & HOUSING

100 Salaries 78,287 0 78,287 525,370 447,083 85

200 Employee Benefits And Allowances 15,942 0 15,942 111,503 95,561 86

300 Services Purchased 32,516 0 32,516 57,500 24,984 43

500 Supplies And Materials 24,705 0 24,705 230,627 205,922 89

------------- ------------ ---------- ---------- ---------- ----------

Total For TRANSPORTATION &

HOUSING

151,450 0 151,450 925,000 773,550 84

------------- ------------ ---------- ---------- ---------- ----------

Grand Total 4,634,138 75,705 4,709,843 32,168,122 27,458,279 85
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